

### **Open Access Repository**

www.ssoar.info

#### State of the Art Report

Favell, Adrian; Recchi, Ettore; Kuhn, Theresa; Solgaard Jensen, Janne; Klein, Juliane

Veröffentlichungsversion / Published Version Arbeitspapier / working paper

#### **Empfohlene Zitierung / Suggested Citation:**

Favell, A., Recchi, E., Kuhn, T., Solgaard Jensen, J., & Klein, J. (2011). *State of the Art Report.* (EUCROSS Working Paper, 1). <a href="https://nbn-resolving.org/urn:nbn:de:0168-ssoar-395738">https://nbn-resolving.org/urn:nbn:de:0168-ssoar-395738</a>

#### Nutzungsbedingungen:

Dieser Text wird unter einer Deposit-Lizenz (Keine Weiterverbreitung - keine Bearbeitung) zur Verfügung gestellt. Gewährt wird ein nicht exklusives, nicht übertragbares, persönliches und beschränktes Recht auf Nutzung dieses Dokuments. Dieses Dokument ist ausschließlich für den persönlichen, nicht-kommerziellen Gebrauch bestimmt. Auf sämtlichen Kopien dieses Dokuments müssen alle Urheberrechtshinweise und sonstigen Hinweise auf gesetzlichen Schutz beibehalten werden. Sie dürfen dieses Dokument nicht in irgendeiner Weise abändern, noch dürfen Sie dieses Dokument für öffentliche oder kommerzielle Zwecke vervielfältigen, öffentlich ausstellen, aufführen, vertreiben oder anderweitig nutzen.

Mit der Verwendung dieses Dokuments erkennen Sie die Nutzungsbedingungen an.



#### Terms of use:

This document is made available under Deposit Licence (No Redistribution - no modifications). We grant a non-exclusive, non-transferable, individual and limited right to using this document. This document is solely intended for your personal, non-commercial use. All of the copies of this documents must retain all copyright information and other information regarding legal protection. You are not allowed to alter this document in any way, to copy it for public or commercial purposes, to exhibit the document in public, to perform, distribute or otherwise use the document in public.

By using this particular document, you accept the above-stated conditions of use.





# The Europeanisation of Everyday Life: Cross-Border Practices and Transnational Identifications Among EU and Third-Country Citizens

State of the Art Report

Adrian Favell, Ettore Recchi, Theresa Kuhn Janne Solgaard Jensen and Juliane Klein

**EUCROSS Working Paper #1** 

October 2011

This series of working papers originates from the research project *The Europeanisation of Everyday Life:* Cross-Border Practices and Transnational Identities among EU and Third-Country Citizens (acronym: EUCROSS).

The EUCROSS research project is funded as part of the European Commission's 7<sup>th</sup> Framework Programme ('Socio-economic Sciences and Humanities', activity 8.5: 'The Citizen in the European Union'; call identifier: FP7-SSH-2010-2; Funding scheme: collaborative project – small and medium-scale focused research projects; grant agreement: 266767). The project started on April 1, 2001 and is scheduled to end on March 31, 2014.

The research consortium is formed by:

- Università 'G. d'Annunzio' di Chieti-Pescara, Italy (coordinator: Ettore Recchi);
- GESIS-Leibniz Institut fűr Sozialwissenschaften, Mannheim, Germany (coordinator: Michael Braun);
- Aarhus Universitet, Denmark (coordinator: Adrian Favell);
- IBEI–Institut Barcelona d'Estudis Internacionals, Spain (coordinator: Juan Díez Medrano);
- University of York, United Kingdom (coordinator: Mike Savage);
- Universitatea din Bucuresti, Romania (coordinator: Dumitru Sandu).

The EUCROSS project and this working paper series are coordinated by Ettore Recchi at the Università 'G. d'Annunzio' di Chieti-Pescara.

For additional information: www.eucross.eu.

This is Deliverable D2.1 of Workpackage 2 (State of the Art). Release date: October 15, 2011.

#### Contents

Executive summary	4
Introduction to the EUCROSS project	5
Europeanisation	8
European identity	13
Conceptualising European identity	13
Predictors of European identification	15
Cross-border practices	18
Physical mobility across borders	19
Non-physical mobility across borders	24
Cosmopolitanism	29
Dimension of cosmopolitan attitudes	30
Conclusion: further challenges for the EUCROSS project	32
Expanding or escaping the Deutschian legacy?	32
The dilemma of EU legitimacy	33
The exclusionary and/or inclusionary effects of Europeanisation	34
The causes and conditions of a 'European cosmopolitanism'	35
References	37

#### **Executive summary**

This paper illustrates the research questions, the main underlying concepts and the relevant literature of the EUCROSS project. The project examines the relationship between the manifold activities of EU residents (nationals, mobile EU citizens, and third-country nationals) across the borders of nation states and their collective identities. Specifically, the project intends to:

1) map out individuals' cross-border practices as an effect of European integration and globalisation; 2) assess the impact of these practices on collective identifications (also controlling for the inverse causal process). Which cross-border practices are more likely to foster some form of identification with the EU – e.g., contacts with foreign friends and/or unwanted foreigners, periods of labour mobility abroad, business and tourist travel, or consumer relations with international companies? Under which contextual and individual conditions do these experiences promote a higher sensitivity to 'Europe' – rather than the 'local' or the 'global' – as an identity catalyst? Which social groups are more prone to adopt a European mindset in the wake of the Europeanisation of everyday life?

In addressing these questions, we use the concepts of 'Europeanisation', 'European identity', 'cross-border practices' and 'cosmopolitanism' drawing on and elaborating from their meaning in the contemporary social science literature — and especially in sociology, anthropology, political science and social psychology. Overall, we find that seldom are these concepts treated altogether specifying the link between spatially and culturally situated behaviours on the one hand and collective identifications and value orientations on the other. Moreover, few studies examine socio-cultural Europeanisation and supernational identifications comparatively, and none includes simultaneously native and immigrant populations, who in fact may attest of different modalities in which the behaviour-identity link can take place.

#### The Europeanisation of Everyday Life:

## Cross-Border Practices and Transnational Identifications Among EU and Third-Country Citizens State of the Art Report

Adrian Favell, Ettore Recchi, Theresa Kuhn, Janne Solgaard Jensen and Juliane Klein

#### Introduction to the EUCROSS project

The building of the European Union has taken place amidst dramatic social change brought on by transformations linked to broader currents of globalisation. European citizens often find it difficult centring themselves in this turbulent world, a fact reflected in their ambiguous feelings towards the EU. Sometimes the European Union is seen as rescuing the European nation state, providing a new layer of governance in an otherwise uncontrollable, global space and its wildly competitive international system; sometimes, it is seen as a hostile Trojan horse for globalisation, sweeping away national and local cultures, and trampling established models of economy and society. This ambiguity puts a great threat to the legitimacy of the EU. Yet despite decades of study devoted to the European Union, we in truth know very little about the ongoing Europeanisation of Europeans' lives, both in political-cultural (i.e., identification and support for the EU and its values) and social terms (i.e., cross-border practices and experiences specific to the new European space).

In parallel with globalisation, European Union policies have considerably widened the scope of ordinary citizens' social practices beyond the borders of nation states. Europeans today can travel, work, study and retire abroad freely (i.e., without visas and other state permits), using low cost regional airlines made possible by EU deregulation; they can vote for the European Parliament and local governments in any member state, regardless of their nationality; they can collect pensions as foreign residents at a local post office; they can buy property securely within a mutually recognised legal system; they can shop online in another EU member state without having to pass through custom offices. All this opens possibilities of interaction with other Europeans, even while sometimes staying in one's own country. Many of these aspects of their everyday life might simply be put down to internationalisation or globalisation. But these new relationships and experiences now often have a distinct regional – i.e., European – scale and intensity.

Rights facilitating these practices, we know, are amongst the most important fruits of European integration. When EU citizens are asked 'what does the EU mean to you' by Eurobarometer, the majority of respondents state that it is 'the freedom to travel, study and work anywhere in the EU' (European Commission 2009, 85). Other policies (defence of democracy, promotion of human and minority rights), in fact, are much less recognised

and appreciated. The EU often imputes this lack of recognition to a question of better information and democratic transparency. Moreover, European institutions have long been engaged in an uphill battle to promote the everyday benefits of EU membership through branding campaigns and funding for cultural events and cross-national associations offering symbols for identification with the EU project. Europe in these terms is meant to embody the highest values and aspirations of a global, enlightened cosmopolitanism (Beck and Grande 2004).

Such issues are generally debated by scholars dealing with the slippery concept of 'European identity'. Officially, the European Union fosters an identity that is mostly conceived in terms of universal democratic ideals and values. These are thought to sit well with a more global 'cosmopolitanism', but are equally claimed to be incarnated in the European construction. Above all, these values – reasons to identify with the EU – are not meant to clash with national and local identifications, but complement them, in the same way that European citizenship is meant to complement national citizenship. To this end, the EU has been producing a vast array of discourses, information services, and cultural events designed to underline the 'best of Europe' (i.e., the highest European values) to often sceptical national populations. Via laws and directives, the EU also facilitates the whole new battery of 'mundane' Europeanised practices – including personal freedom of movement, consumer and property rights, associational and business opportunities, cross-border openings – that may or may not be acknowledged by their recipients as the direct effects of EU membership and European citizenship.

Assessing the association and reciprocal influences of these *values* and *practices* promoted by the EU is the central goal of the EUCROSS project. Using quantitative and qualitative tools, we aim at mapping simultaneously the forms and degree of collective political identifications and the forms and degrees of internationalisation of everyday life among European citizens and residents. Via our network of six national partners (Italy, Germany, Denmark, Spain, Britain and Romania), we shall measure the variations of EU identifications and Europeanised practices across the continent, from South to North, and from highly to less highly globalised national contexts. We will consider the interaction of changing national identities with international influences, and explore how and why some people are more likely to identify with the EU rather than with local or global entities. We will control for the impact of age, gender, and social class differences on internationalisation and Europeanisation. And we will investigate how Europe looks to residents sometimes seen as outsiders: European citizens from a new member state (Romania) and residents from a candidate member state and the EU's largest source of immigration (Turkey).

The EUCROSS project will first and foremost furnish a large-scale, unique and independent quantitative survey, fleshed out by qualitative follow-up interviews that will be publicly available for secondary analysis to all scholars in the field. It will seek to advance existing studies on sociological Europeanisation by going beyond conventional data, such as the surveys provided by Eurobarometer, and by taking its findings deep into a detailed breakdown of the changing everyday life and social practices of Europeans. Moreover, it will extend a realm of research on the internationalisation of European societies that has mostly been limited to social theoretical debate rather than empirically

established findings. This study will also plug directly into current efforts in European social survey work and represent an exemplary piece of carefully designed, comparative, mixed-methods in sociology.

As a first step towards these goals, this state of the art report offers an interdisciplinary synthesis of relevant literature to the project paying particular care to four central concepts: *Europeanisation, European identity, cross-border practices* and *cosmopolitanism*.

The first section on *Europeanisation* covers predominantly the political science literature on Europeanisation and European integration, as well as literature on globalisation in relation to Europe. This section will also draw on basic literature on the development of the nation state, European governance and the most recent sociological and anthropological work on the European Union and Europe. Literature on transnationalism – another key concept – spans between this section and the section on cross-border practices. Here, the theoretical discussion focuses on the link between Europeanisation and transnational practices. In general, we seek to pull away from the political science approach to Europeanisation and move toward a sociological alternative that looks at the idea of Europeanisation 'from below'. Dealing with Europeanisation in a sociological way leads naturally to issues such as identity formation and cross-border practices in a European/EU context, as well as questions of how citizens of the EU are perceiving the politically promoted values and the EU's influence on spatial mobility.

The section on *European identity* covers the most important and relevant works on the prospects of such an identity. Literature in this section ranges from theoretical and conceptual approaches to identity, to studies looking at public opinion based on Eurobarometer surveys. As one of the purposes of the EUCROSS project is to fine-tune research on 'European identification' empirically, we focus particularly on case studies building on innovative methods beyond standard data sources such as Eurobarometer. As we point out, the concept of European identity is highly contested – both in its theoretical foundation and in its methodological operationalisation – and some of the literature here represents highly critical views on the general quest to grasp with a European identity.

Literature on *cross-border practices* has mainly been selected with a focus on behaviour/practices in the European field/space. This includes physical and virtual mobility within Europe. Importantly, the literature does not only represent spatial mobility but the entire range of phenomena extending beyond borders such as international friendships, family network, intermarriage, tourist experiences, international media and cultural consumption. Some of the literature also deals with mobility/migration in relation to demographic backgrounds, culture and social class differences in order to later discuss and analyse the impact of these variables on Europeanisation.

The literature on *cosmopolitanism* has been selected with a focus on values. The notion of cosmopolitanism is primarily important as a conceptual tool to discuss European values in relation to more global values and whether, as is sometimes argued, the basic principles on which the EU is founded embody a preliminary form of cosmopolitanism. The existing literature is therefore largely philosophical, but emerging empirical studies

seek to test whether cosmopolitan attitudes can be linked to EU citizens' freedom, cross-border practices and related transnational experiences.

In a closing section, we look at the 'cutting edge' in current research in this field, in terms of four questions: the legacy of 'Deutschian' approaches; the dilemma of EU legitimacy; the inclusionary and/or exclusionary effects of Europeanisation; and the conditions and causes of a 'European' cosmopolitanism.

#### Europeanisation

The term 'Europeanisation' has first been coined and later monopolised by political scientists and legal analysts interested in how national legislation is influenced by and adapts to the EU legal and political system (Green Cowles et al. 2001; Börzel and Risse 2003; Falkner 2003; Featherstone and Radaelli 2003; Martinsen 2005; Graziano and Vink 2008). While some scholars have protested this narrow policy-centred view within EU studies (Radaelli 2000; Olsen 2002), such an approach has tended to sideline a very significant effort by anthropologists, sociologists and other social scientists to offer an alternative, and more encompassing definition of Europeanisation: that is, one that might consider the full range of cultural, social, economic and political effects of the European Union building process on the everyday lives of European citizens (Díez Medrano 2008; Favell and Guiraudon 2009).

The political science literature – with the exception of a few works that take seriously the question of the building of the European Union as a spatially grounded regional integration process (Mattli 1999; Rodriguez-Pose 2002; Bartolini 2005; Katzenstein 2005) – argues that although Europeanisation cannot be treated as a simple synonym for European integration, this term must be understood and discussed against the many internal processes that the EU has brought with it. Hence, in order for the concept to have meaning, it is important to be able to specify Europeanisation as the direct or indirect effects of European Union (i.e., 'EU-isation') (Flockhart 2010), and not conflate it, as is sometimes the case, with studies looking at the making of 'Europe' historically or culturally in a wider sense.

Without doubt, the mainstream efforts of the political science literature on Europeanisation have opened doors and built links to how sociologists, or others interested in the 'bottom-up' dynamics of European integration, might look at the subject. The social-constructivist approach to European integration emphasised the constitutive effect of Europeanising norms, values and identities on European political actors (Christiansen, Jørgensen and Wiener 2001), also through elite socialisation (Checkel 2007; Hooghe 2005). Following this, there has been a conscious attempt to introduce a more sociological mode of thinking into traditional policy and governance questions (Delanty and Rumford 2005; Jenson and Mérand 2010). We might also point to the mobilisation literature on Europeanisation, that has looked at how European political opportunity structures have impacted European political action (Koopmans and Statham 1999; Imig and Tarrow 2001; Guiraudon 2011).

Shifting to a more political economy based macro-perspective, Europeanisation is often discussed in terms of internationalisation and globalisation, considering to what extent they are interrelated dynamics (Mann 1998; Nederveen 1999; Rosamond 1999; Meyer 2001; Katzenstein 2005; Beckfield 2006; Kriesi 2008). According to Katzenstein (2005, 13), internationalisation is 'a process that refers to territorially based exchanges across borders. It refers to basic continuities in the evolution of the international state system; and globalisation [is] a process that transcends space and compresses time. It has novel transformative effects on world politics'. Overall, globalisation and internationalisation are not the intentional outcomes of political actions. In contrast, Europeanisation is understood as the target of much of the EU's policy-making, as long as EU politics has purposes. Whether these purposes are successfully accomplished is actually what is at stake.

From a global point of view, the expansion of international flows through new networks of information and communication technologies in Europe has contributed significantly to the global economy (Castells 2008, 81; see also Raab 2008). Castells (2008) describes how the structures of global networks affect everyone and anything because all core cultural and communicative activities are globalised. Similar to Wallace's (2000) argument that the EU is 'a regional variant of globalization', he further states that European integration can be considered as both a reaction to the global process and also the most advanced expression of it (Castells 2000, 348). In a different style, but with a similar message, Fligstein and Mérand provocatively argue that 'much of what people call 'globalisation' in Europe is in fact Europeanisation' (Fligstein and Mérand 2002, 8). Trade and investments are not happening independent of the nation state and part of what we mean by globalisation needs therefore to be recast. According to Fligstein and Mérand's argument, globalisation is not a force beyond the control of governments; rather, global and regional markets have been purposively created by facilitating rules, competition policies and — in the case of the EU — a single currency.

Mainstream European studies literatures have tended to treat globalisation as external to the process of integration and Europeanisation of governance function. According to Rosamond (1999), globalisation is still a contested phenomenon within the EU, but could actually help legitimate the EU's intervention in some policy areas. Following this line of thought, Nederveen (1999) states that the relationship between Europeanisation and globalisation is crucial to answer where Europe is heading, especially in relation to the EU's cultural complexity. If the EU also wants to be the travelling light for matters of culture and a common identity, then this means an 'open Europe' and a less exclusive Union, in the sense of a redefinition of citizenship and immigration laws (ibid., 15; Ugur 1995).

The EU may lead to new forms of inequality and exclusion, however. Some literature certainly, following Bauman (2000a), insists upon the stratifying effects of mobility, free movement and cross-national integration at the macro-regional level (Weiß 2005; Kofman 2005; Delhey and Kohler 2006; Berger and Weiß 2008). Rumford (2001; 2002; 2003) questions to what extent the EU controls and shapes all the processes taking place within its sphere of influence. He points out that a plurality of European public and social spaces exists, but often beyond the control or unrelated to the EU and its member states

- European social spaces are not necessarily constituted by European integration. Rumford further criticises the abuse of the notion of civil society as the dominant way of understanding the relationship between European integration and European society under the conditions of globalisation (see also Hansen 2002). In a similarly critical study of how the EU is drawn into a wider discussion of politics among the general public, White (2010a and 2010b) concludes from his conversations with taxi-drivers that though the EU and national institutions are equally mentioned as having difficulties in addressing substantive concerns of its citizens, this is particularly problematic for the EU. Unlike the EU, a traditional polity can draw on additional sources like ties generated by common culture and history (White 2010a, 1036). This will be a vital point in understanding and defining Europeanisation from below. As the EU still suffers from problems of legitimacy and a democratic deficit, it is important to distinguish between the intention and the outcome of Europeanisation. In the everyday lives of European citizens, the outcome of EU policies of free movement could as well be interpreted as a mere internationalisation of individual possibilities. The success of top-down Europeanisation is a core concern in the EU studies literature, not least to understand the relationship between citizens and the political authority given by the EU (Bellamy 2006). Kohler-Koch (2003) calls EU governance a multifaceted interconnectedness of EU and national governance, embracing a 'communicative universe' and a European public space. However, the distinction between EU governance and European governance deserves closer scrutiny. According to Walter (2005), the EU is not Europe per se, but only the most recent political unit to speak in behalf of Europe. Walter, however, specifies that we need to call attention to the plurality of Europes, pointing not to an Europeanisation of governance, but to a governmentalisation of Europe.

As the discussion above suggests, the question of Europeanisation quickly leads, via the issue of how to characterise the politics and governance of the EU, to bigger questions about how traditional conceptions of state, nation and community must be recast. Though Howe (1995) wrote in the early years of the new Union that cultural homogeneity is not a preliminary requisite for a political community but could be created despite the rich mosaic of languages, customs and traditions, there is today a more or less common resolution that we need new understandings of society, membership and belonging in order to comprehend the effects of European integration (Kostalopoulou 1997).

EU citizenship has been a core subject for grasping the changing interrelation between individuals, the nation state and European integration since the Maastricht Treaty (Habermas 1992; Eder 2001; Faist 2001; Bellamy 2004; Maas 2007). Union citizenship challenges the predominant notion that national citizenship is imperative to membership in a polity — it is anchored in a deterritorialised notion of persons' rights regardless of their historical or cultural ties to that community (Soysal 1994). To understand citizenship in the EU context, old concepts of belonging and membership must be re-worked (Wiener 1998). According to Delanty (2000) the discourse on citizenship has been fragmented into separated discourses of rights, participation, responsibility and identity. Guild (1999) points to the fact that constructing an identity on the basis of European citizenship is problematic since the distinction between full members and non-members in practice is far from clear.

The need for a theoretical and methodological shift is brought to the table not only by the European integration and Europeanisation literature, but also by globalisation theories (Bauman 2000a and 2000b; Cohen and Kennedy 2000). Globalisation has a transformative impact and is affecting everyday lives and traditional ways of living. It alters nation states and their modes of relating to each other. 'It is the way we now live', Giddens notes (2002, 19). However, though globalisation is best understood as 'denationalisation' (Zürn 2000), states still retain and activate the capabilities which enable the global system to function (Sassen 2006).

Nation states remain the key units of analysis in much of the empirical comparative-historical sociology of Europe (for example, the welfare state literature, which barely even notices the EU: Esping-Anderson 1999). An exception is Kaelble's (1987; 1990; 2004; 2007) research on the long-term differences and commonalities of European societies. Kaelble's account looks at Europeanisation via the convergence of spheres of social and public life, such as education, the welfare state, gender and class. As with all major comparative works, the EU stays in the background, although it may be a consequence of some of these dynamics. What created this historically unique unification of European states is part of a process that Crouch (1999) calls the 'mid-century social compromise' where industrialism, capitalism, liberalism and citizenship achieved a distinctive balance in Western European politics. However, Crouch's work is rooted in the comparative welfare state literature and does not tackle the question of the EU's transformative effects in this context (see also Therborn 1995; Mendras 1997).

A new generation of empirical sociology has more recently focused on understanding how the EU and European integration impact on daily life (for a review, see Favell and Guiraudon 2011). It investigates the degree of Europeanisation on an everyday level and the forms by which the EU has projected its power on society. For instance, Díez Medrano (2010a) points to how 'nationals' have become 'Europeans' at the level of consumer lifestyle. In both French and German, the term 'Europeanisation' is more routinely applied in the broader, sociological, and EU-specific sense we endorse, such as in Bach (2000), which addresses the issue of the Europeanisation of domestic societies, or Mau and Verwiebe, who refer to 'horizontal Europeanisation', which they describe as 'contacts, interactions and social relations across different European countries as well as forms of pan-European mobility' (2009, 270, original text in German). Another indicator of Europeanisation is the proliferation of transnational networks of claims-making on an EU-wide scale (Imig and Tarrow 2001), or the willingness of EU citizens to see certain policies dealt with at the EU level. A useful, comprehensive framing of the issues is also made by Díez Medrano (2008), who assesses the ways in which Europeanisation might be said to be leading to a fully-fledged European society, parallel to the ways that historical nation-building led to national societies. His assessment is largely negative. Bach (2006) observes that society - meant as an overlap of the nation state - vanishes as a unit of reference for social integration, and that sociology must bring new concepts to cope with it in an age of supra-national integration and governance. Schissler and Soysal (2005) take another perspective and examine the role of changing school curricula in the global era. Since a great part of nation-state building historically has been based on schooling, they

expect a new framing of education as the nation today is being 'reborn' in a European context.

As both sociologists and anthropologists emphasise, there has thus been a need to advance research on European integration beyond political science literature and perhaps to reshape the notion of 'Europeanisation' for their own purposes. Anthropologists were first in this respect, coming from a discipline that has some core traditions valuable for the study of Europeanisation from below (MacDonald 1993; see also Abélès 1996; Borneman and Fowler 1997), though Shore in the beginning of the 1990s called for anthropology to acknowledge the activities of the EC 'above' (Shore and Black 1992). Shore found that in the shift towards a new global paradigm at the level of theory, anthropology remained regrettably wedded to the local-level experience not taking the EC into account. Later Shore (1993; 1997; 2000) has produced valuable pieces on European cultural policies. Similarly, work on different aspects of the EU transnationalism has brought important contributions for our research. Instead of analysing the EU as a political system, Delhey (2004) views it as a social space of non-state actors of different nationality. Focusing on transnational social integration, he calls for an analytical shift from convergence to interrelations among member countries. Delanty (1998) suggests focusing on 'transformation', which evokes less 'the end of the social' and more the emerging 'network society' based on knowledge. On the basis of Favell's (2003 and 2008a) research on mobile Europeans, Favell and Guiraudon (2009 and 2011) remark that any data-driven empirical project should extend the concept of Europeanisation parallel to the notion of globalisation, thus framing it as a macro-regional scale process revolving around a political project, the European Union.

Recently, a number of sociological works have advanced the agenda of the Europeanisation vs. internationalisation of social practices and identifications, as well as the variation that might be found according to national, cultural, age, gender, social class or migrant-origin backgrounds. Much of this work takes off from the original transactionalist approach of Deutsch and colleagues (1957), who held that the best indicator of regional integration was the volume and intensity of cross-border connections - of both elites and ordinary citizens. Perhaps the broadest of these updates of Deutsch has been Fligstein's Euroclash (2008). Fligstein pulls together all the available secondary sources for the study of Europeanised practices, values and identifications, concluding that the Europe-in-the-making is polarised between a small, elite minority who has substantially Europeanised its networks, self-understandings, and political goals, and a large minority who feels shut out from these benefits. Half-way between these two poles stands the largest group of middle-class, highly nationalised Europeans, who sometimes see benefits in the European project and sometimes not. Fligstein usefully breaks with the mechanistic Deutschian view about transactionalism, by stressing via Bourdieu-inspired logic how elite, highly Europeanised networks are in effect creating a non-spatial 'social field' that is characterised by new forms of cultural capital and social identities specific to the European space.

The work of Díez Medrano (2008) similarly concludes that a more embracing European society is a distant prospect. However, on the different measures of Europeanisation that he constructs, it can be seen that Europeanising practices are taking hold in the mundane

everyday lives of Europeans – in terms of intermarriage, business networks, consumer practices, and so on. Moreover, even as this relatively benefits the upper classes of Europe, the groups for whom the impact of such Europeanisation has brought the biggest change have been less educated populations, who now travel or holiday in Europe to a much larger degree than they used to. Understandings and identifications of Europe, however, remain determined largely by national-level 'framings' of European integration (Díez Medrano 2003), that differ widely across the continent and are not appreciably changed either by EU information campaigns and symbols, or by the degree of international experience of these citizens.

#### **European identity**

Research on European identity has been a 'growth industry' in EU studies for well over a decade (for a recent review, see Kaina and Karolewski 2009). This has been visible in the publication of numerous edited volumes on the topic, including both conceptual (e.g. Wintle 1996; Checkel and Katzenstein 2009) as well as case study approaches (e.g. Robyn 2005; Sjursen 2006). Survey based analysis of the subject from within EU studies was first pioneered by Gabel (1998). A further key empirical contribution, based on quantitative and qualitative studies, was edited by Herrmann and colleagues (2004). A complete review and analysis of concepts of and data on European identity and a European public sphere has been recently provided by Risse (2010), discussing both aspects in the light of European politics.

Moreover, European identity is the subject of many comprehensive articles discussing the necessity (Kaina 2006), possible conceptualisations and operationalisations (Delanty 2002; Sinnott 2005), as well as the empirical existence of a European identity (Duchesne and Frognier 1995; Kohli 2000; Citrin and Sides 2004; Nissen 2006; Roose 2007). Not only have political scientists and sociologists occupied themselves with the topic, but scholars from various disciplines, such as geographers (e.g. Keith and Pile 1993), anthropologists (e.g. McDonald 1993) and historians (e.g. Mikkely 1998; Loth 2002; Koops 2002).

#### Conceptualising European identity

Identity is a notoriously unsatisfactory concept in the social sciences (Abdelal et al. 2009; Brubaker and Cooper 2000). The very notion of European identity has therefore attracted a lot of scepticism (Favell 2005). Criticism targets both the conceptual (i.e. Strath 2002) and methodological aspects of identity. It therefore needs careful unpacking and operationalisation in any new research to be of value.

There is agreement in the literature that collective identity entails an individualistic and a collectivistic part (Kohli 2000; Smith 1992; Kantner 2006). We align ourselves with literature that adopts a bottom-up approach to collective identification, and prefer to speak of active individual identification rather than group identity attribution. Along with Tajfel (1974 and 1981), we distinguish among three dimensions of collective identity: cognitive, evaluative and affective orientations (see also Citrin et al. 2001). On a *cognitive* 

level, individuals need to perceive themselves as members of a certain group. In the European context, people need to categorise themselves as European. On an *evaluative* level, collective identities rest upon a set of beliefs with respect to the criteria of inclusion or exclusion to a group. These two dimensions form a necessary condition for the development of a third dimension of identity: an *affective* relationship to the collective in the form of a certain feeling of attachment or belonging.

We contend that each of these dimensions ought to be analysed when studying European identity. Mainly due to data restrictions, many quantitative survey analyses of European identity rely on the affective dimension only. While the related item in Eurobarometer ('please tell me how attached you feel - very attached, fairly attached, not very attached, not at all attached') has been shown to be the most reliable operationalisation of European identity (Sinnott 2005), it only captures one of three dimensions of collective identity. Moreover, the emphasis on the affective dimension might ignore more sober, implicit instances of European identity (Cram 2012). In contrast, focusing on the cognitive dimension only (in the form of self-categorisation) bears the risk of capturing 'role playing' rather than identity proper (Risse 2010, 35). In other words, to identify with a collectivity means not only to categorise oneself as member of a group but to internalise the norms and rules of that group, and to ascribe an affective relationship to it. Finally, ignoring the cognitive dimension bears the risk of grasping something else than identification. For example, a third-country immigrant might well have lived long enough in Europe to feel attached to it and to have internalised its norms and values, but might still not consider herself as European. Thus, our aim will be to unpack the abstract concept of identification into different cognitive, evaluative and affective dimensions.

Additionally, collective identity has different components, referring to different aspects of the community. Bruter (2004a and 2004b) has distinguished a civic and a cultural component of European identity. The civic component highlights citizenship, democracy and rule of law. People holding a civic European identity identify with the European Union as a political entity. The cultural component of European identity, on the other hand, refers to a (perceived) cultural closeness to other Europeans and rests upon a common history and cultural heritage. People with a cultural European identity view Europe as a cultural community (Bruter 2004a, 196). In addition, Schlenker (2011) identifies ethnic elements of European identity, relating to issues such as European common ancestry. In a similar vein, Risse (2010) argues that two different narratives of European identity exist, a 'modern' one stressing enlightenment, human rights and democracy, and a 'nationalist' one emphasising 'Fortress Europe' and evoking ethnic features. In fact, identity constructions are known to have effects of closure and exclusion on 'others' against whom a positive self-identity is being imagined (Mouffe 2000; Mummendey and Waldzus 2004). Thus, the building of a European identity, however benevolently termed, can easily degrade into the exclusion of visibly distinct populations, who are deemed to not fit the idealised European mould or who are not yet part of the 'club', tacitly continuing to see Europe as a West European project (Holmes 2000; Case 2008). We will thus develop and test a multidimensional operationalisation of identifications that distinguishes their nature (cognitive, evaluative or affective) and focus (cultural or political).

It is also important to note that although European identification and support to European integration are often related in the minds of ordinary citizens (and in practice difficult to disentangle at the measurement level), they are conceptually different (Duchesne and Frognier 2002; Bruter 2005; Grundy and Jamieson 2007; Antonsich 2008; Díez Medrano 2010b).

Scholars in social psychology contend that people can hold multiple collective identities (Erikson 1956; Lawler 1992). Strong national or local identifications are thus not necessarily an obstacle to European identity (Díez Medrano and Gutiérrez 2001; Westle 2003; Citrin and Sides 2004; Bruter 2005). As long as different group memberships are culturally and institutionally constructed as nested rather than as mutually exclusive, Europeans are generally able to add a European dimension to their conception of who they are, in comfortable coexistence with their national and local identifications. In fact, in some studies, strong national identities have been found to have a positive effect on European identity (Díez Medrano and Gutiérrez 2001; Fuchs et al. 2009). This seems to support Risse's (2004) argument that, at least in some countries, European identity is framed as the extension of national identity. When attribution of legitimate political responsibility for government action, or perception of winners and losers of European integration is put to the test, however, identifications quickly become conflictual. Consequently, exclusive national identities and perceived threat by immigration have been routinely found to be a source of eurosceptic attitudes (Carey 2002; Hooghe and Marks 2004; Luedtke 2005; McLaren 2006).

European identity has been studied from various methodological angles – each of which has its strong and weak points. Quantitative survey analysis highlights identity patterns. Yet, it bears the risk that 'one forces opinions to be expressed on highly abstract matters which respondents have rarely engaged with, and infers attitudes and beliefs which have barely formed' (White 2009, 699). Moreover, quantitative surveys do not allow accounting for the contextuality of collective identities. This task is better achieved using focus groups (Bruter 2004b; Duchesne 2010) and qualitative interviews (White 2009; Díez Medrano 2010b) which are useful to study 'identity in use' and to shed light on how people interpret European identity. Research relying on laboratory experiments (Bruter 2003; Cram et al. 2011) is very useful to isolate causal relations. However, both qualitative research and experiments provide findings of limited generalisability (Castano 2004). Thus, in our research project we will employ methodological pluralism rather than relying on one research method.

#### Predictors of European identification

When assessing the effects leading to European identifications among ordinary citizens, it makes sense to differentiate between factors at the individual and at the macro level. We will first discuss individual-level predictors and then turn to the macro level.

European identifications are particularly expected to be found among intra-European migrants (Favell 2008a; Recchi and Favell 2009; Roeder 2011) and people frequently engaged in cross-border mobility and contacts (Fligstein 2008; Gustafson 2009; Kuhn

2011). They experience everyday life in another EU country and thus are able to refer to three different dimensions of identification such as their home society, their host society and Europe (Recchi and Nebe 2003).

Permanent as well as temporary intra-EU movers have been the focus of research on European identifications. Among them are specific groups such as retirement migrants (O'Reilly 2007) or students (King and Ruiz-Gelices 2003; Sigalas 2010; Wilson 2011), whose opportunities to go abroad have increased during the European integration process. Although Mau and Büttner (2010) find that an increasing 'horizontal' Europeanisation enabled by a 'vertical' Europeanisation has a positive effect on citizens' European identification, Díez Medrano (2008) also makes clear that the growth of opportunities for cross-border mobility and communication is a necessary but not sufficient condition for the rise in the numbers of self-identified Europeans. After all, only a minority of Europeans engages in stable cross-border interactions (Fligstein 2008). Moreover, even those Europeans that regularly interact cross-nationally do not necessarily come to identify as European and with the European Union. A number of processes may contribute to this. First, as suggested by conflict theory (Blumer 1958; Blalock 1967), the confrontation with the foreign 'other' might reinforce national identities, especially if this foreign 'other' is also European. Such encounters with fellow Europeans, as opposed to encounters with non-Europeans outside of Europe's geographical space, may activate people's need for differentiation (Brewer and Yuki 2007). Second, highly transnational individuals might perceive their cross-border practices as primarily bi-national and they might thus develop a bi-national or regional rather than European identification (Rother and Nebe 2009). This could especially be the case for interactions between two countries that encourage cross-border exchanges with an eye to strengthening 'regional' integration (e.g., Denmark and Sweden). Third, utilitarian considerations may enter the process, thus cancelling out and distorting the impact of cross-border interactions. 'Winners' and 'losers' of Europeanisation may frame crossborder interaction differently, the former as cultural enrichment and the latter as incursions in enemy territory. Fourth, transnational contacts may foster a sense of cosmopolitanism more than or instead of European identification (Pichler 2008).

What is evident from all available sources, education is a strong predictor of European identification. There are several potential reasons why more highly educated people are more prone to feel European. First, in line with Inglehart's (1970) concept of cognitive mobilisation, a higher level of education increases one's ability to grasp abstract and complex issues and to gain 'the skills necessary to cope with an extensive political community' (ibid., 47). Second, people might 'learn' to identify with Europe by being exposed to pro-European and cosmopolitan ideals, especially so in higher education (Hainmueller and Hiscox 2006). Finally, a high level of education provides better life chances and increases the likelihood to belong to the 'winners' of European integration (Kriesi et al. 2008). Given that identity and interests are strongly intertwined (Brubaker and Cooper 2000; Kohli 2000), highly educated people might endorse a European identity due to utilitarian benefits. This last perspective is supported by the fact that also socioeconomic privilege (i.e., occupational status and income) is highly correlated with European identity (Citrin and Sides 2004).

Younger people have consistently been found to be more inclined to identify with Europe (Duchesne and Frognier 1995; Citrin and Sides 2004; Fligstein 2008). Similar patterns of more widespread supranational identifications among younger people were also found in other regions of the world (Norris 2000; Roose 2010). While it might be tempting to expect European identity to become more mainstream with each new cohort, Jung's (2008) research shows that the higher propensity of supranational identities among the young is likely to be a life course rather than a cohort effect.

Finally, certain aspects of people's belief systems have been shown to correlate with European identity. In general, people further to the left on the political spectrum are more likely to hold a European identity (Citrin and Sides 2004; Green 2007; Risse 2010), but there are some exceptions to this pattern (Duchesne and Frognier 1995). Moreover, people subscribing to cosmopolitan ideals tend to identify with Europe as well (Pichler 2009b). However, Schlenker (2011) argues that it matters what kind of European identity people have: while she found a positive correlation between cosmopolitanism and civic European identity, cosmopolitanism correlates negatively with ethnic elements of European identity.

Most authors agree that collective identities are socially constructed rather than previously given (Kohli 2000; Risse 2010). They can evolve in consequence to structural changes. There are several ways in which institutions are deemed to influence collective identity formation. First, institutions socialise the people subjected to them and can ultimately influence their collective identities (Checkel 2007). According to this argument, the longer a country is already in the EU – and the longer its citizens have been exposed to European institutions, their values and norms – the more widespread is European identity expected to be. Risse (2010, 91) does indeed find empirical support for this claim. However, Roose (2010) compares the pattern and extent of European identity to supranational identities in other (less integrated) regions of the world and finds that the gradual shift towards supranational identifications in Europe is no exception. He thus concludes that European identity cannot be explained by European institution building alone. Equally, in a panel study among officials of the European Commission, Hooghe (2005) finds little support for the hypothesis that socialisation in the Commission over time increases support for the norms of this institutions.

Institutions can shape identities even more actively through 'persuasion' (Risse 2010) by employing narratives and symbols which strengthen the psychological existence of the EU (Castano 2004) and promote group identity. In this respect, national educational systems play a key role. For instance, the French educational system has been shown to be a strong driver of French nation building in the 19<sup>th</sup> century (Weber 1976). European member states vary considerably in the extent to which they put European Union on their educational agenda (Haus 2009). To varying degrees, member states have adjusted history textbooks (Schissler and Soysal 2005), national narratives and civic education (Hinderliter Ortloff 2005) to European integration and globalisation. These national differences are likely to influence the degree to which citizens adopt a European identity.

Equally, the exposure to European symbols, such as the flag of the European Union, Euro coins or the European anthem, is expected to promote European identification among

the public by increasing the visibility of the 'imagined community' of the EU (Bruter 2003). Using experiments, Bruter finds that the recurrent exposure to symbols of European integration reinforces citizens' cultural identification with Europe. While relating to EU support rather than identity proper, Cram et al.'s (2011) online experiments among English, Irish and Scottish citizens provide mixed evidence: the exposure to the European flag has no impact on EU attitudes, while the exposure to functional triggers such as the European passport polarises existing opinion.

Moreover, public discourse plays a crucial role in creating a common European identity (Risse 2010). Put differently, the generally low levels of European identification among the mass public have often been imputed to the weak development of a European public sphere (for an opposing view, see Koopmans et al. 2010). After all, collective identities being processual, they need to be constructed and negotiated (Kaelble 2009, 207). Indeed, in countries with a higher visibility of European topics in mass media, people tend to identify more with Europe (Stoeckel 2008). Not only the quantity but also the content of media coverage is crucial. Bruter (2003) finds that persistent good news strengthens European identity, while continuous bad reporting on Europe weakens it. Moreover, elites play a direct role in European identity formation. A Spanish inquiry on the diffusion of attitudes – somehow reminiscent of a classic study (Katz and Lazarsfeld 1955) – shows that pro-European individuals, being on average more educated, are more likely than the rest of the population to spread their views through social networks (Garcia Faroldi 2008). Political leaders' influence has also been tested. Both positive party positions on European integration and a greater salience of European topics in party agendas imbue a stronger sense of European identity among the public. Referring to EU support rather than EU identity, the literature on cue-taking testifies of a strong link between party positions and public opinion (Hooghe 2007; De Vries and Edwards 2009; Hobolt 2009).

#### **Cross-border practices**

In the wake of the emerging globalisation of the economy and increasing population and communication flows, anthropologists introduced the concept of 'transnationalism' to give a new twist to migration research in the early 1990s. In their own words, the concept was meant to denote 'the processes by which immigrants build social fields that link together their country of origin and their country of settlement' (Glick Schiller, Basch and Blanc-Szanton 1992, 1), those 'multiple ties and interactions linking people or institutions across the borders of nation states' (Vertovec 1999, 447), or 'activities that require regular and sustained social contacts over time across national borders for their implementation' (Portes, Guarnizo and Landolt 1999, 210). Very rapidly, many social scientists elaborated on the concept, claiming that it could equally cope with individual and collective units of analysis, with economic, cultural and political actions, as well with factual and attitudinal contents (i.e., behaviours and orientations). However, no clear-cut (albeit conventional) cutting points for the duration, intensity and scope of cross-border behaviours and/or orientations to qualify them as 'transnational' have ever been firmly established. This is perhaps one of the reasons why, at the end of the day, the theoretical debate on transnationalism has grown much larger than the empirical literature on it - especially in Europe (Fibbi and D'Amato 2008, 7). But even when field research adopts this framework, there is a tendency to blur 'acting' and 'feeling' transnational. As is often the case, the success of the term has turned it into an umbrella for differing phenomena. In the best of cases, 'transnationalism' is endangered of conceptual over-stretching; in the worst, of becoming a journalistic catch-all cliché of the contemporary migrant experience.

To avoid potential confusions, in our project we prefer to use the concept of 'cross-border practices' as a more concrete label for individual activities spanning over different national contexts. This terminological option has another advantage. In contemporary social science, 'transnationalism' is predominantly associated to migrants – or, more precisely, to a sub-set of them sometime called 'transmigrants' (Glick Schiller, Basch and Blanc-Szanton 1995). In fact, in an age of globalisation, the opportunities of contact with individual and corporate actors established abroad have grown exponentially *for everybody*. Thus, when speaking of 'cross-border practices', we intend to focus on behaviours that are performed by any possible individual agent in any aspect of everyday life. Moreover, we are interested in studying such practices 'from below' focusing on the internationalisation of mundane social activities.

Much before transnationalism had become *en vogue*, the idea that cross-border practices were key drivers of social change was enshrined in Karl Deutsch's transactionalist theory (Deutsch et al. 1957). The theory itself was crafted to account for processes of international integration, having in mind the then embryonic European construction as a 'security community'. In Deutsch's view, the institutionalisation of such a 'community' depends on the scope and strength of a wide palette of cross-border exchanges – such as international trade, labour and capital mobility, scientific cooperation, cultural activities, the use of non-national media and intermarriages (cf. in particular Deutsch 1954, 145; Deutsch 1969, 102). Quite imaginatively, Deutsch (1954) mentioned the ratio between domestic and international mail as a possible indicator of cross-border interactions. This operational hint is even more suggestive in a time of generalised use of electronic mail. Broadly speaking, any transaction across borders would foster a learning process supporting trust in the emerging supra-national polity and a virtuous circle of additional support for further integration (Adler and Barnett 1998).

#### Physical mobility across borders

Of all possible cross-border experiences, few are likely to be more absorbing and emotionally charged than resettling abroad. Hence, international migration among EU member states has been the form of cross-border practice that has so far attracted the largest scholarly interest. Recent trends in intra-EU mobility, of course, build on a long history of such movements in the modern period (Bade 2000; Moch 2003). But the establishment of a globally unique free movement regime – meant to make the crossing of national borders as easy as possible under the aegis of a common citizenship (Maas 2007; Koikkalainen 2011) – has made this practice even more topical in the EU context.

Following on the abundant legal literature on the free movement regime (for overviews, Magnette 1999, Baldoni 2003; Koslowski 2004; Guild 2009, 132 ff.), as well as earlier descriptive studies of intra-EU migrations (Salt and Schmidt 2001), the most encompassing sociological study of the population of EU mobile citizens remains the PIONEUR project (funded under the EC 5<sup>th</sup> framework program), which is based on a comparative survey of 5000 such citizens within Western Europe (Recchi and Favell 2009). This study highlights the selectivity of intra-EU movers from the former EU-15 in terms of socioeconomic status and the relative marginality of labour migrants among them - with the exception of the older cohorts of guest-workers in Germany (Braun and Recchi 2009). As other research confirms (e.g., Verwiebe 2011 on Europeans in Berlin), purely economic motives are not the paramount spurs of intra-EU migration. Moreover, PIONEUR data reveal the inclination of intra-EU movers to sew international friendship networks and embark onto further geographical mobility over their lifecourse (Alaminos and Santacreu 2009). Another relevant finding is that while individual-level differences are considerable in many regards (e.g., motives of mobility, education and class background, age at migration), movers' strategies of integration in host societies are to a large extent independent from country-level variations - that is, they are de-nationalised, being focused on neither the country of origin nor the country of residence of the movers (Braun and Glöckner-Rist 2011). Particularly when it comes to language proficiency which is often pointed at as the major hurdle to mobility in Europe - 'Europeans are Europeans, rather than Germans, Italians, etc., in the way they adapt to other national contexts in Europe' (Braun 2010, 615). Finally, the subjective correlates of cross-border movements are clear: EU movers have an acute sense of being European, as they identify more strongly with 'Europe' and have by far a more positive image and better knowledge of the European Union than the rest of the population (Rother and Nebe 2009; for a local study with similar outcomes, see Block 2004). The latter finding has been corroborated by additional analyses of the European Social Survey, showing that immigrants from new member states and third-country citizens are also more positively oriented to European integration (Roeder 2011).

Complementing its political stake on citizenship and free movement, the EU itself has directly conducted research on cross-border mobility, mainly via the *European Foundation for the Improvement of Working and Living Conditions*. The Dublin-based institution has promoted an *ad hoc* Eurobarometer survey tapping intentions to move to other member states and accession countries in 2002 and replicated it, with extraquestions on mobility experiences, in 2005. Predictions of East-West migration after enlargements based on the 2002 survey proved to be extremely conservative in terms of volume (no more than 1.3 million persons in five years) and inaccurate in terms of destinations of potential migrants (two thirds of the sample said they aimed for Germany and less than 5% mentioned the UK and Italy) (Krieger 2004). In 2005, expectations of mobility had grown: 5.4% of the working-age EU citizens interviewed by Eurobarometer said they thought of moving to another EU member state in the following five years (Fouarge and Ester 2007). In retrospect, however, the whole exercise of assessing 'migration projects' seems rather disconnected from 'migration facts'. Intentions to move turn out to be poor estimations of actual movements. More reliable are perhaps data,

taken from the same 2005 Eurobarometer, tracking past episodes of geographical mobility in the EU-25. These data indicate that EU citizens who had ever lived in another EU member state amounted to 4% of the population. At the time, Eastern Europeans were far less likely than their Western neighbours to have had such an experience. Consistently with the findings from PIONEUR, the probabilities of cross-border residence diminished among less educated respondents (Vandenbrande et al. 2006). Finally, the European Foundation carried out an econometric analysis of the same Eurobarometer wave seeking to assess the economic and psychological outcomes of cross-country relocations (Birindelli and Rustichelli 2007). This study charted a complex scenario, in which macro- and micro-level findings tell different stories (see also Hadler 2006 with similar results). At the macro-level, higher proportions of movers from other EU countries were found in areas with better labour market performances. At the micro-level, however, 'movers within the EU [were], on average, characterised by poor labour market indicators' (Birindelli and Rustichelli 2007, 30). The benefits of cross-border mobility were hardly discernible in purely economic terms. These concerns have also been at the heart of the EU's Sapir report which looked at mobility and flexibility on the European market as a key dimension of European economic growth (Aghion et al. 1994).

Another large-scale data-set on mobile European workers was collected by a multidisciplinary research project on 'Job Mobilities and Family Lives in Europe. Modern Mobile Living and its Relation to Quality of Life', which in 2007 conducted a survey in Belgium, France, Germany, Poland, Spain and Switzerland (Schneider and Meil 2008). In all these countries, workers with some experience of such mobility – with differing forms and intensity – are found to amount to about half of the samples of people aged 25 to 54. Again, country-level differences are much lower than individual-level ones – in particular gender and age (young men are over-represented among movers). Moreover, consistently with what emerged from PIONEUR (Recchi 2009), job-related spatial mobility is hardly a factor of social upward mobility but rather a strategy to buffer potential downward shifts in class positions (Meil 2008, 313). Another key finding of this study is that mobility can be unpacked into many different variants in terms of residential choices, distance, duration and regularity. As ideal-types, mobile individuals are distinguished into the 'residentially relocated' and the 'recurrently mobile'; the latter group further subdivides into 'shuttlers', 'long-distance commuters', 'overnighters', 'job nomads' and the 'vari-mobiles' (Limmer and Schneider 2008).

Around these huge survey-based studies revolves a galaxy of more focused, mostly qualitative, inquiries exploring either specific locations or subsets of movers. One such work is Favell's (2008a) *Eurostars and Eurocities*, whose ethnographic materials illustrate the variety and subtleties of mobility choices of the post-Maastricht generation of young and well-educated EU citizens who settled in major cities – such as London, Amsterdam and Brussels. While being clearly exceptional, even within the whole population of movers (cf. Favell and Recchi 2011), the 'Eurostars' stand out as prototypes of a European-style creative class embodying the human type that better suits the kind of economic and cultural opportunities carved out by European integration. Similar work was also done on movers settled in Berlin by Verwiebe (2004; see also the pioneering work by Tarrius 1992 and 2000).

Focusing on the new waves of intra-EU migration spurred by the enlargements of the Union in 2004 and 2007, Favell (2008b) argues that survey-based research must be complemented by a focus on the 'human face' of this migration through ethnographic level investigations of experiences, networks and practices. Such a methodological option helps go beyond outdated views of migration. As also King (2002) points out, European migrants are not only poor manual workers bound to a Gastarbeiter destiny. Even when originating from non-(yet) EU countries, many of them belong to an 'emergent migrant middle class', as Verwiebe (2008 and 2011) calls it in his study of Western and Eastern (pre-enlargement) Europeans working in Berlin. New forms of migration derive from a large canvas of macro- and micro-level conditions (Koser and Lutz 1998; Favell 2009). Furthermore the binary opposition of 'home' and 'host' countries need be overcome, as migration today is part of a much more extensive system of mobilities. A good example of this novel migration thinking is Burrell's (2006) inquiry of Polish, Italian and Greek-Cypriot immigrants in Leicester. Her work is structured around narratives of migration, national identities, transnational networks and community life. Emphasis is placed on migrants as active agents in the migration process. With this approach we move away from the dominant focus on immigrants defined against a host country in ethnicised forms as collective units, showing a range of motivations and strategies that do not fit into standard labelling. Among the many local studies of the new migration facilitated by the EU enlargements of the 2000s (cf. Recchi and Triandafyllidou 2010), Metykove (2010) explores the implications of media practices for identity, belonging and political participation, highlighting migrants' sophisticated skills in combining traditional and digital media. Sandu (2005) takes another look at East-West population movements and poses the question of whether Eastern Europeans are developing a type of 'regional transnationalism'. He identifies a new migration structure in terms of communities and regions, outlining the role that Romanian villages play in conditioning the flows of transnational circular migration (see also Morawska 2002). Moreover, Sandu (2010a and 2010b) shows the clustering of cross-border practices formed by sending remittances home, communicating regularly with people in the home country and planning travels and resettlements. All these behaviours are combined to measure a composite 'index of home orientation', that - applied to a large sample of migrants in Spain - proves to be efficient in categorising the population at stake in terms of differing forms of transnationalism.

Another strand of research spearheaded by geographers deals with retirement and life-style migration – one of the most underestimated cross-border practices within Europe (for an overview, Benson and O'Reilly 2009). O'Reilly (2000) offers an ethnographic investigation of the way of life of the British on the Costa del Sol, looking at how national stereotypes work in this context. She concludes by stating that this is a 'British' movement in its own terms, in which Europe and even the host country are of marginal subjective importance among movers, who have brought traditional Britain to Spain and 'gone home'. Further, O'Reilly (2007) calls this a 'mobility-enclosure dialectic'. British lifestyle movers are victims of a whole range of contradictions: they move in sync with globalisation, they stay aloof from local societies and yet are frustrated of not being more integrated – at the end of the day, being unable to escape their Britishness. King, Warnes

and Williams (2000) similarly pioneered migration research on retirees in the South of Europe, mixing survey and qualitative work. Rodríguez et al. (1998) took a more mechanical approach to retirees in the Costa del Sol by researching the reasons, the stability of these reasons over time and the retiree population's influence on the local economy and society. Gustafson (2001) carried out an interview-based study with Swedish retirees who spend summers in Sweden and winters in Spain, describing their experiences of mobility, their dual place attachment and the patchwork strategies for managing cultural diversities.

An analogous form of new migration particularly pertinent to the EU space is student migration (King and Ruiz-Gelices 2003). Again, research on this topic challenges typical paradigm assumptions in the classical migration literature. Some research looks at the 'Erasmus generation', investigating to what extent EU-funded exchange programs reinforce or cause young students to become more pro-European (Blume 1998; Bettin Lattes and Bontempi 2008; Sigalas 2010; Wilson 2011). Evidence is mixed. Open-ended interviews and biographies emphasise the enduring transnational social capital and awareness of former Erasmus students, but more structured survey data falsify the hypothesis that the Erasmus experience by itself enhances support for European integration: Though there are significant differences between Erasmus and non-Erasmus students, the pro-Europeanness of Erasmus students has not changed after participating in the program (Wilson 2011).

Education is usually the empirical yardstick to define 'high-skilled migration' – a separate sub-field of international migration research which lends itself to a rather clichéd opposition of 'elite' and 'ethnic' migration (Favell 2003). Smith and Favell's collection (2008) broadens the theoretical and methodological understanding of high-skilled migration, overcoming the false dichotomy between the educated corporate elites on the one hand and the desperate and poor labour migrant on the other. Similar insights can be gained by anthropological studies of expatriates in particular settings, such as Scott's (2004) fieldwork on the British in Paris (see also Wagner 1998), that fine-tunes complex identity negotiations, or Zulauf's (2001) research on migrant women professionals (i.e., nurses and bank employees) in Britain, Germany and Spain in the 1990s, that outlines the overlap of gender and nationality-based forms of discrimination even for skilled workers in a potentially migration-friendly legal environment. Ackers' qualitative and policyrelated studies have also focused on the problematic mobility of women, as well as on welfare rights for retirement migrants and the impact of the free movement regime on children (Ackers 1998; Ackers and Dwyer 2002; Ackers and Stalford 2004). A key message of her analysis is that this regime is porous and not uniformously applied – for instance, when it comes to educational systems and the recognition of qualifications. Paradoxically, it 'serves to aggravate as much as facilitate family life', especially when relationships break down and 'the enforcement of divorce and parental responsibilities across member states become increasingly apparent' (Ackers and Stalford 2004, 199). Relying on openended interviews to Polish and Bulgarian scientists in the UK and Germany, Ackers and Gill (2008) have also pioneered work on the causes and consequences of scientific mobility. Their study provides evidence of a high level of shuttle mobility, and therefore brain circulation seems to prevail over brain drain and brain gain. While some

respondents highlight the uneven marketability of academic credentials across borders, improvements in virtual communication for joint research and the networking and funding opportunities promoted by EU institutions in the R&D realm tend to make scientific mobility individually and collectively rewarding in the enlarged Europe.

Finally, some authors have taken a more critical stance on free movement, outlining its political significance with a stress either on its structure-based origin or its agencycentred nature. When the stress is on 'structure', cross-border mobility is framed as part of the 'making [of] the European space' as a homogenous and capital-friendly environment (Jensen and Richardson 2007, 141-142). These authors adopt a Foucaultian reading of free movement in which mobile people are passively shaped by EU governmentality. European policies fostering citizenship mobility are held to be part of a one-dimensional discourse of territory where the super-national political order and the remaking of everyday lived spaces intertwine, all the better to fuel a neo-liberal conception of the market dominant among policy-makers (Jensen and Richardson 2004). Such an approach, however, plays down entirely the strong agency involved in mobility choices. As mentioned above, in fact, several pieces of empirical research reveal that romance, adventure and quality of life motivate intra-EU migration even more than economic betterment. Due to convergence among member states, on purely economic grounds migration within Western Europe should have declined substantially in the last decades – but it did not (Recchi 2005 and 2008). Thus, taking to the extremes the agency component of free movement, Aradau et al. (2010) come to argue that European citizenship has created a tension between nationality and territoriality, and that it would be more fruitful to account for mobility across EU member state borders as a (possibly unconscious) political act of denationalised sociality.

#### Non-physical mobility across borders

What is clear from different sources is that the established distinction between movers and stayers is a rough approximation to the current reality of cross-border movements. Less permanent and more hybrid forms of border-crossing have been on the rise in the last decades: physical mobility such as transnational commuting, cross-border business and shopping, or split location lifestyles, and non-physical mobility such as the movement of money and savings, the consumption of international media, participation in virtual communities formed by people of different nationalities. Such an insight is also in tune with the social theoretical and human geography inspired literature on 'mobilities' that sees such networks, flows or discursive/media scapes as much as part of a mobile world as human bodies moving in time and space (Urry 2000 and 2007). Literature following this lead has in general accomplished to go beyond the narrow idea of free movement as a form of migration across borders, questioning the standard binary opposition of migration/mobility/movers to the local/locality/stayers (Büscher, Urry and Witchger 2010). 'Mobilities' refer to 'not just movement but to this broader project of establishing a 'movement-driven' social science in which movement, potential movement and blocked movement, as well as voluntary/temporary immobilities, practices of dwelling and 'nomadic' place-making are all viewed as constitutive of economic, social and political relations' (ibid., 4). Urry identifies five forms of mobilities: corporeal travel of people; physical movement of objects to producers, consumers and retailers; the imaginative travel effected through talk, images and other visual media; virtual travel in real time that enables presence and action at a distance; communicative travel through person-person contact via embodied conduct, messages, texts, postcards, letters, telephones (Urry 2007, 47 ff.). Following a similar line, Elliott and Urry (2010) explore complex mobility systems and their transforming effect on everyday lives, on the basis of a few in-depth narratives that are, however, methodologically controversial as long as they are framed in a fiction-like format. Equally, Canzler, Kaufmann and Kesselring (2008) bring attention to the new concept of 'motility', which refers to the capacity of an actor to move socially and spatially and is therefore reinforced by networks. Kaufman (2008) also proposes to factor in 'motility' as a source of social change dependent on the speed potentials generated by technological transportation systems.

The empirical object from which Urry was inspired originally in his 'mobility turn' is tourism. In tune with Urry, Kaplan (2002) frames 'travel' as a polysemic act that can hardly be confined to tourism research. Even though tourism statistics force travels into motivational categories (e.g. Axhausen 2008), leisure and business are not always disconnected purposes of cross-border short-term movements. Moreover, while it is widely acknowledged that the expansion of travel experiences abroad is a paramount outcome of social change in the second half of the 20<sup>th</sup> century in industrial and post-industrial countries (Kaelble 2004; Axhausen 2005), even recent research on young people testifies that the aspiration and achievement of foreign holidays mirror social and cultural inequalities (Frändberg 2009). Overall, social science research on the amount, scope and subjective implications of travels within Europe is so far modest and unsystematic – if not for already quoted inquiries (Schneider and Meil 2008; Gustafson 2009) or for interpretations of travel statistics as indicators of Europeanisation (Fligstein 2008, 147 ff.; Mau 2010, 78 ff.).

Using a different conceptual language, Conradson and Latham (2005) discuss similar issues in terms of 'transnational urbanism' (Smith 2001) in an investigation attentive to the continuing significance of place and location. They focus on everyday practices inherent to transnational mobility in contrast to the naive tendency of both the mobilities literature and the famous social theory of Castells (2000) and Bauman (2000a and 2000b) that exaggerates the world as a borderless 'space of flows'. These global visions glorify change, but not the everyday texture and the many things we take for granted in a mobile life. To extend the scope of transnational research, these authors shed light on what they call 'middling' forms of movements, referring to the implication of the middle class – and not only of elites and migrants from less developed countries – in transnational mobilities (ibid., 229; see also Smith 2005; Stüver 2005; Ehrkamp 2005; Rogers 2005; Yeoh 2005). More grounded research on transnationalism and mobilities is now emerging. For instance, Green (2002) explores how time and space are reconstructed through the use of mobile communication. Moving beyond the theoretical level and building on an ethnographic fieldwork, her research shows how mobile communication technologies mediate time in relation to mobile spaces. Grounded research also addresses the significance of different mobile practices. Amit-Talai (1997) calls for anthropology to accept the loss of collectivity, though the question is posed whether anthropologists can deal with the effects of globalisation without taking away the intimacy and depth of its characteristically place-based work. Essentially he asks whether it is culture or social relations that are becoming more transnational (ibid., 321). Guarnizo and Smith (1998) conclude that transnationalism does not create a 'third space', being highly contextual; locality is therefore just as significant as the cross-border practice itself. Exactly against this change of boundaries is where anthropology should find its new backdrop (Stacul, Moutsou and Kopina 2007), expanding its scale to embrace Europe, not from the top-down perspective proposed by Shore (1997 and 2000), but rather from the bottom-up texture of actors composing identities with cosmopolitan, national, regional and local 'bricks'. In an empirically grounded contribution on the cultural implications of mobility, Gustafson (2009) dismantles the uni-dimensionality of the well-established local-cosmopolitan dichotomy. His sample of Swedish frequent travellers turns out to endorse both cosmopolitanism and localism, suggesting to understand these concepts as distinct items rather than two poles of the same scale. Along similar lines, Nowicka's (2005) study of international professionals shows that mobile people make their own spatial universe through daily practices and routines; hence place still matters though with different signatures than among the less mobile population.

As already discussed, physical mobility across state boundaries is possibly the most important but not the only cross-border practice that deserves closer scrutiny. In the internet age, social relations can be maintained across borders via multiple means of communication. International friendship networks and romance relationships are certainly part of the whole set of cross-border practices. Moreover, objects and events move through national boundaries, encapsulating thereafter consumers in cross-border practices. Thus, we complete this section by reviewing existing research on international friendship, long-distance relationships (and eventually their outcome, bi-national marriages) and international consumption patterns. We will then conclude with a final reflection on the special case of border regions.

The sociological study of friendship has greatly benefitted from the development of social network research. Inspired by a local study on past Erasmus students' networks, De Federico de la Rúa (2002) hypothesises that international friends represent the microstructural basis of supra-national identifications. Studying a small sample of architects working for multinational building companies, Kennedy (2004) reaches the same conclusion: under certain experiential conditions, viable friendship networks with people from different countries persist over time and into global life. These networks are also deemed to foster a post-national outlook. Similar issues arise when it comes to assess the effects of cross-border affective ties spanning over EU member states, although this research topic must not be confused with the more encompassing and more widely investigated area of interethnic partnerships. The only existing survey-based analyses of bi-national couples among EU movers indicate that the bulk of them decide to settle in one of the partner's home country - 'Eurostars' being rather the exception to this rule (Braun and Recchi 2008; Gaspar 2011). On this definitely under-studied topic, which knows many possible variants (depending on residential choices, nationality combinations, legal status of the couple, family arrangements) an ambitious comparative

project, EUMARR, funded by the European Science Foundation and coordinated by Díez Medrano has been recently launched. This project is expected to deliver an accurate map of multinational families in Europe, as potential strong vectors of Europeanisation from below. Preliminary results of this project show that the single market and the Schengen space have had a negligible impact on bi-national marriages between Europeans in the countries under study (Belgium, the Netherlands, Switzerland, and Spain). However, when many migrate in a rather stable way to another European country (e.g., Romanians to Spain), this is reflected in rapid increases in the number of bi-national couples. Díez Medrano's project is currently exploring the individual variables that impact on a person's choice to marry another European, with a focus on transnational cosmopolitan background, and the contrasts in lifestyles and identifications between members of binational couples and members of mono-national ones.

Lastly, borders are crossed virtually when social actors interact with objects that are imbued with foreign cultures – be it listening to music in another language, buying exotic food, or watching foreign media. A special concern with the modalities by which globalisation enters everyday lives through consumption patterns is the hallmark of the innovative empirical research completed by Savage et al. (2005). Their work is one of the few to put empirical flesh on the oft claimed idea that globalisation has dramatically transformed routine behaviours and attitudes. Their research explores how global changes are articulated locally in cultural practices, lifestyle and identities of the middle class. The local, however, is not an instance of the global and we should not be prompt to the dichotomising idea of local distinctiveness and global generalisation - what is important is the particularity of place. The idea of belonging, in response to both globalisation and the European integration process, has a profound role in the debates on time and space compression, citizenship and cultural distinctiveness. Burawoy's Global Ethnography: Forces, Connections and Imaginations in a Postmodern World (2000) is a paradigmatic example of 'grounded globalisation' research. The goal is to grasp with matters such as the disappearance of the traditional workplace, the dispersion of enclaved communities and the fluidification of identity – all as part of how globalisation is experienced through everyday life.

This brings us to the seminal attempts by Mau (2010) to provide survey data for a multidimensional take on individual cross-border practices. Relying on an *ad hoc* survey of the German population, he draws a 'cartography of transnational social relations', which shows that almost half his respondents maintain social relations with at least a friend or a relative who lives abroad and that 60% of their holidays are spent in a different country. The critical question has to do with the effects of this transnationalisation of the life-worlds: Is there a connection between one's integration in cross-border activities and the extent to which political and social orientations are detached from national identity? Do such activities truly create cosmopolitan citizens? Mau, Mewes and Zimmerman (2008) find that cross-country social experiences are not necessarily alienating people from their home locality, but rather work as a form of 'horizontal Europeanisation' that make them more aware of the role of international interconnectedness in everyday lives. Physical migration has been particular important for theories of transnationalism, but the citizens of economically advanced societies are

all potentially mobile and largely enmeshed in transnational social fields. These findings are partly corroborated by a study promoted by the European Commission (2011) on the emerging group of 'New Europeans' who have European-wide connections. More than half of all surveyed respondents still fit the pattern of 'old Europeans', i.e. their interactions and identifications remain at a national level. The 'new Europeans' in contrast, are engaged in cross-border interactions, due to either their migration background or links that they established throughout their lives. Personal ties to people from another European country were found to be the most prominent form of cross-border connectedness. 'New Europeans' are more likely to feel attached to a country other than their own than old Europeans, and they are more willing to move abroad. In contrast, their identification with Europe turns out to be only marginally stronger than among the group of 'old Europeans'.

Cross-border relations are also fostered and sustained by civil society and public organisations. On the one hand, there is now a vast literature on transnational protest movements (Della Porta et al. 2006; Della Porta 2009), as well as environmental, human rights and interest-based NGOs (like Greenpeace, the European Network against Racism and the European Trade Union Confederation: Ruzza 2004; Della Sala and Ruzza 2007). Individual participation in these transnational ventures, though, seems still limited and intermittent (Tarrow 2005). On the other hand, Krotz (2007) identifies what he calls 'parapublic underpinnings of international relations' - that is, state-financed youth exchanges, municipal partnerships, and a host of institutes and associations promoting cross-border interactions. Even if originating from state initiatives and not addressing EU integration, these interactions are part of a different kind of Europeanisation that goes beyond the narrow EU-centric idea of intra-European practices. Transnationality in Europe does not mean just 'EU-isation'. In the Franco-German case he studied, Krotz holds that these initiatives 'make Europeans more European, but not less national' (ibid., 389): a plausible outcome in line with other research using in-depth interviews (Duchesne and Frognier 2002 and 2008).

Another dimension of governance and everyday life that the literature is especially interested in researching deals with the political and social borders created by the EU's remaking of spatial and territorial understandings (Anderson and O'Dowd 1999; O'Dowd 2001; Meinhof 2002, 2003, 2004; Berezin 2003; Berezin and Schain 2003; Berezin and Díez Medrano 2007; Bigo and Guild 2005; Eigmüller and Vobruba 2006; Paasi and Prokkola 2008; Roose 2010; Rippl et al. 2010). Border regions are viewed as laboratories of European integration and 'transnational social capital'. However, even where individuals cross frontiers regularly and build their own personal realm independent of national boundaries, the emergence of a Europeanised self-image is not always straightforward, with other intervening conditions entering into play. In a seminal study, Roose (2010) investigates individual and contextual conditions of transnational societal integration in intra-European border regions. Kuhn (2012) also examines border regions but with a focus on the relationship between transnationalism and Euroscepticism, finding that the impact of cross-border practices on attitudes towards the EU is less relevant in these areas than elsewhere. At a time when EU's outer limits have been changed continuously with enlargements and intra-EU boundaries have lost their political

salience due to free movement and Schengen, borders embody the dilemma of inclusion and exclusion, as Wallace (2002) so simply and accurately put it (see also Balibar 2004). In Dürrschmidt's (2006) reflection on global change, that draws on ethnographic fieldwork along the German-Polish frontier, borderlands reveal their double-edged potential, as seedbed for cosmopolitanism because of the ongoing meeting with 'the other' or as easy prey of political populism in the face of cultural hybridisation and colonisation. Both processes would suggest that, in opposite directions, borders can act as magnifiers of the effects of Europeanisation and globalisation.

#### Cosmopolitanism

The concept of cosmopolitanism was first introduced by Diogenes who called himself a *kosmopolites* – a 'citizen of the world' (Nussbaum 1997, 5). Cosmopolitanism has a long trajectory in social sciences and philosophy, and has been studied from various analytical and normative angles. In fact, according to Vertovec and Cohen (2002), cosmopolitanism as a social science concept has at least six different meanings: a socio-cultural condition, a methodological approach, a philosophy, a political project, a set of attitudes and a set of competences. All these approaches share the common emphasis of 'world openness, global awareness, loyalty to human kind and recognition of the other' (Pichler 2009b, 705).

In a nutshell, cosmopolitanism as a socio-cultural condition is a consequence of globalisation and refers to increased international connectedness and interdependence as well as to the permeability of national borders in our days (Beck and Grande 2004). These developments have spurred cultural, religious and political heterogeneity and have raised the awareness for otherness.

'Methodological cosmopolitanism' (Beck and Grande 2010; Beck and Sznaider 2006) or 'critical cosmopolitanism' (Delanty 2006) is an approach that seeks to overcome the limitations of methodological nationalism of contemporary social science. According to Beck and Grande (2010, 427), methodological cosmopolitanism breaks down the entrenched equation: one society = one culture = one nation = one state that has dominated the social sciences in the past decades and thus obscured transnational social phenomena.

After its early days in Ancient Greek and Roman writings, cosmopolitanism as a philosophy and normative argument was revived in Kantian philosophy (Nussbaum 1997). Cosmopolitan philosophy claims that all human beings belong to the same global community notwithstanding their ethnic, political, religious and ideological affiliations (Kleingeld and Brown 2006). It is therefore a founding current for modern political ideals such as universal human rights.

Cosmopolitanism as a political project 'calls for the empowerment of international institutions because of increased global interdependencies' (Ecker-Ehrhart 2011, 1), that weaken the efficiency and power of the nation state. Some social theorists in the debate have suggested that European integration harness and embody the highest ideals of political cosmopolitanism (Beck and Grande 2007). Indeed, Archibugi (1998, 219)

describes the EU as 'the first international model which begins to resemble the cosmopolitan model'. Another realisation of political cosmopolitanism is the *International Criminal Court*, capable of subjecting individuals under international law above and beyond their national legal systems (Kleingeld and Brown 2011).

A recent strand in the literature emphasises 'real existing cosmopolitanism' (Weert et al. 2008), i.e. attitudes and behaviour that can be empirically measured. Cosmopolitanism as a set of individual attitudes refers to collective identity and belonging as well as appreciation of otherness (Roudometof 2005; Olofsson and Öhmann 2007; Mau et al. 2008; Pichler 2009a; Haller and Roudometof 2010; Ecker-Ehrhart 2011).

Finally, cosmopolitan competences refer to skills and practices facilitating efficient interactions on an international level. Cosmopolitan competences are conceptually very close to 'transnational competences' (Koehn and Rosenau 2002) or 'transnational linguistic capital' (Gerhards 2010).

#### Dimensions of cosmopolitan attitudes

For the purpose of our project, the conceptual proximity between cosmopolitan competences and cross-border practices is problematic as it makes it difficult to differentiate between independent (behaviour) and dependent (attitudes) variables. We therefore go along with previous contributors (Mau et al. 2008) and limit our understanding of real existing cosmopolitanism to attitudes while capturing cosmopolitan-related behaviour in the concept of cross-border practices. The background to this work is the systematic cross-national comparisons on the convergence and divergence of values among European populations undertaken by Gerhards (2007).

In a nutshell, cosmopolitan attitudes are held by 'those who identify more broadly with their continent or with the world as a whole, and who have greater faith in the institutions of global governance' (Norris 2000, 289). While it might be tempting to expect that increased global interconnectedness automatically leads to more cosmopolitan outlooks among the entire public, it has become clear that globalisation also triggers counter-reactions such as increased ethnocentrism (Roudometof 2005). Institutional border removal makes collective identity even more important to define oneself against a common other (Beck 2002). More recent empirical studies argue that individuals can hold complex attitudes and thus hardly ever can be categorised as only locals or cosmopolitans, a distinction which goes back to Merton's (1968) classic opposition of 'cosmopolitans' and 'locals' as idealtypes of social actors on the basis of mutually exclusive outlooks. Rather, they can be placed along a cosmopolitan-local continuum (Roudometof 2005). In an analysis of this continuum using data from the ISSP National Identity Modules from 1995 to 2003, Haller and Roudometof (2010) observe a global trend towards less local and more national attachments – with the exception of Europe, where national attachments are declining in favour of European attachments.

Olofsson and Öhmann (2007), however, argue that, both from a theoretical and an empirical standpoint, this continuum is better represented as two separate dimensions. While the first dimension relates to place-oriented attitudes such as attachment at the

local, regional or national level, the second dimension is based on cultural, political and economic openness. They thus identify four groups of people, of which the 'open globals' and the 'local protectionists' are at opposite ends, while the 'global protectionists' and the 'open locals' score high on one dimension but low on the other. Their empirical analysis of Swedish survey data finds that the majority of respondents (47% in 2003) are 'local protectionists', while only 7% could be classified as 'open globals'.

The interpretation of the local-cosmopolitan continuum in terms of (lacking) attachment at the local and national level has been criticised, however. It is questionable whether cosmopolitans are indeed detached from lower entities. Rather, cosmopolitans should be seen as individuals that are merely not confined by local or national affiliations. In fact, Ossewaarde (2007, 372) notes that even in Merton's (1968) original dichotomy the cosmopolitans form part of the local community. In line with this argument, as already discussed, Gustafson (2009) shows that while Swedish frequent international travellers are significantly more willing to move to another country and are more likely to hold a European identity, their local ties and attachment do not significantly differ from the rest of the population.

Similarly to Oloffson and Öhmann, Pichler (2009b) differentiates between 'subjective/identity' and 'objective/orientation' cosmopolitanism. According to this author, 'subjective' cosmopolitanism refers to feelings of attachment or belonging to the world as a whole, while 'objective' cosmopolitanism entails open attitudes towards otherness (ibid., 713).

Mau and colleagues (2008) presuppose three interrelated dimensions of cosmopolitan attitudes. The first dimension is based on the recognition of interconnectedness of political communities. The second dimension refers to the awareness of 'overlapping collective fortunes that require collective solutions locally, regionally and globally' (ibid., 5). Finally, a third dimension entails the acceptance of difference, diversity and hybridity. The first two dimensions identified by Mau and colleagues are taken up in Ecker-Ehrhart's (2011) contribution. Analysing German survey data, this author finds that perceptions of transnational interdependence foster the endorsement of global governance, even more so if individuals question the problem-solving capacity of their national government.

In a widely-discussed paper, Calhoun (2002) has argued that cosmopolitan attitudes are an elite phenomenon, confined to a mobile and well-educated upper class. Indeed, the cosmopolitan is often depicted as an upper-middle class professional overcoming local and national boundaries in the search of better living and working conditions elsewhere (Ossewaarde 2007, 372). Cosmopolitan ideals are said to be of little appeal to others than philosophers or highly privileged individuals and societies. However, public opinion research shows that a broad share of the public subscribes to cosmopolitan ideas and that cosmopolitanism is far from being elitist (Furia 2005).

#### Conclusion: further challenges for the EUCROSS project

Expanding or escaping the Deutschian legacy?

The most promising lines of research regarding Europeanisation, European identity, European transnationalism, the emergence of a European society, and the possibility of cosmopolitanism in Europe, have been empirical studies that build towards large-scale, comparative and systematic accounts of cross-border practices and their consequences in Europe. In most cases, these are works that systematically build on the legacy of Karl Deutsch's early studies of European regional integration that posited growing cross-border transactions as the fundamental sociological source of integration of supranational 'communities' at a macro-regional scale such as the European Union (Deutsch 1954; Deutsch et al. 1957). For Deutsch, greater economic and political cooperation between states would facilitate multiple and growing cross-border social transactions – i.e., personal interactions and movements – at the individual level, which in turn would establish a sense of community – i.e., the emergence of a regional identity – and legitimate further integration.

The 'Deutschian' style works discussed here and on which we develop (i.e., Fligstein 2008; Recchi and Favell 2009; Mau 2010; Díez Medrano 2010a; Andreotti and Le Galès 2011; Kuhn 2011) are the cutting edge of a new field. However, there are issues that may be raised about the limitations of the Deutschian legacy, and a question as to whether in fact the legacy may need to be escaped as much as extended.

While Deutsch's long-term scenario is plausible, it is somewhat out-dated, underspecified and incomplete. One question is immediately posed by the problematic relationship between globalisation and European integration. It is extremely hard, albeit essential, to adjudicate between the impact of broader globalisation (or internationalisation) versus regionally specific Europeanisation, when accounting for underlying causes of change in cross-border transactions and practices (Castells 2000; Fligstein and Mérand 2002). Globalisation appears to overlap with European integration, bringing along opportunities but also risks, such as the delocalisation of jobs, increased migration, and the snowballing of economic crises across national borders. It can be seen to pit winner against losers (Bauman 2000a; Kriesi et al. 2008), and is said to trigger a backlash in terms of strengthening local identities (Eidelson and Lustick 2003). We have to find a way of unpacking the effects of globalisation from those of Europeanisation, as well as charting how this confusion plays out in the mind of EU citizens as they assess the building of the EU.

Specific cross-border practices made possible by the EU legal and political institutions should, it is often argued, foster positive European identifications (Rother and Nebe 2009). However, the linkage between Europeanised practices and identification with the EU is not a linear or straightforward mechanism, being confounded by globalisation or other international identifications, and by how these affect different social groups. Age, gender, education, and social class may all be relevant in this respect. It is not clear whether early socialisation (into an international world view) or later life experiences (via practices and social networks) are the key to these identifications. And globalisation may offer different speeds and scales of internationalisation to those triggered by European

rights and opportunities. For example, it is often observed that compared to other social groups, upper-class, educated and young people now routinely extend their range of experience beyond European borders. They are likely, perhaps, to go to Shanghai or New York as students, workers and holiday makers more often than they are using the opportunities of the European space. Lower-class, lesser-qualified and older people, on the other hand, are more restricted to the European space in terms of cross-border experience, and often suffer the worst 'externalities' of global free movement .

A second major weakness of the Deutschian legacy is that it does not take into account immigration into the EU as part of the globalising/Europeanising changes of the last decades. Compared to average EU citizens, non-EU origin residents in Europe are involved in vast transnational networks of transactions that extend well beyond the European space (Soysal 1994). The EU construction sometimes helps their inclusion into European societies (facilitating mobility or the liberalisation of labour markets), but sometimes it explicitly excludes them (locking them out of EU citizenship, or creating the perception of a European fortress). Third-country nationals, who are long-term residents in Europe, have long been the focus of this discussion (Balibar 2001). Yet even new European citizens – that is, citizens from new member states – can feel exclusion when they are barred from the full rights of membership by transitional clauses, or when they experience continued distinctions between West and East in their everyday interactions (Favell and Nebe 2009). Any research on the impact of the EU on Europeanisation in a global/international context must then build in a contrast with the experience of these 'other' European groups.

#### The dilemma of EU legitimacy

A second set of issues for our consideration concerns EU legitimacy, a topic high on the agenda of both EU scholars, policy-makers and public opinions. Despite its wholehearted promotion of democratic values as part of the symbolism and rights attached to European citizenship, the EU has faced a breakdown in the 'permissive consensus' of the population (Hooghe and Marks 2008) over further European integration or enlargement, as citizens revolt against and reject identification with the European project. EU policy-makers often feel that there is an unfair 'gap' in the public perception of their efforts: if only they could understand the benefits of the practices they have enabled, or the values and symbols they have promoted, then hostile national electorates would not be so sceptical. However, there are many aspects of internationalisation and globalisation in different European contexts, or regarding different social groups, that suggest that the European Union cannot automatically expect individuals to be positively Europeanised merely through experiencing EU-based rights, values, symbols or cultural events.

One of the important issues is to target the most difficult aspect of this missing understanding of why Europeanisation via internationalisation in Europe is not working: the blurred intersection of globalisation and Europeanisation. This is, as is well known, the issue on which hostility towards the EU is often pivoted: the sense that all Europeanisation has brought to people is a feeling of vulnerability and potential decline caused by the opening of protective national European societies to the winds and

unbridled competition of globalisation. In unpicking the actual effects of Europeanisation (i.e., the effects of European citizenship and EU membership), from other internationalising/globalising trends, the EUCROSS project will be able to pinpoint which cross-border social practices are in fact indicators of a distinct, emergent, regional-scale European society, and thus which deserve to be better recognised as an everyday takenfor-granted benefit of EU citizenship.

#### The exclusionary and/or inclusionary effects of Europeanisation

Thirdly, there is the great fear of European observers that the EU, far from living up to its proclaimed values and cosmopolitan ideas, in fact cements a process of closure to 'non-European' cultures and populations as part of its construction. This is a commonplace cry among critics of the EU, as well as many critical theory-inspired scholars who point to the existence of 'other' Europes than the EU. It is not a subject, however, that is well researched in systematic, data-based sociological terms. Our study will advance this field of research, by explicitly comparing the likely 'exclusionary' experiences of new EU citizens from an economically disadvantaged part of the continent (Romania), as well as non-EU citizens from a country at the heart of many cultural-symbolic debates about the borders of Europe (Turkey), with the everyday 'international' experiences of average EU nationals in different member states. It is, in other words, a way to put flesh and blood, as well as systematic statistical evidence, on the burning question of 'What is Europe?'.

Our project shall therefore also reach towards a missing synthesis of research on internal European mobility and more conventional studies by migration scholars on immigration and transnationalism in Europe. While likely being amongst the most internationalised and globalised of European residents, immigrants in Europe are also subjected to 'nationalism revivals' in EU member states, which insist that they abandon their transnationalism and 'integrate' into new national identities, severing their primary loyalty to their countries, cultures or (even) social ties of origin. Ironically, these kinds of national 'integration' policies are increasingly de riquer in states that would never dream or even be able to impose such bounded socialisation pressures on their own nationals, who have been internationalising and globalising their lives in recent decades. As we well know, more highly privileged citizens - such as the famous 'transnational elites' of the professional-executive class in most European countries – are routinely able to travel, move and organise their lives on an international scale that largely escapes the bounds of the countries they come from, even when they still 'live' there. Our project will furnish data-based findings about the scale, systematic geography, intensity internationalisation, in both spatial and non-spatial (i.e., socio-cultural) dimensions, that can both compare 'elite' and 'immigrant' forms of transnationalism, and offer an understanding of how national societies are responding to this ongoing transformation. We will also find out who in fact is Europeanising the most or fastest amidst the broader opportunities of a globalising world. One possibility is that it will be the less educated, lower-middle classes of Europe who - locked out from the elite's more global opportunities - are adopting more rapidly European cross-border practices; another, is that the emerging new European migration system – which is calling for more fluid access to labour from the East rather than further afield — is in fact Europeanising the transnationalism of Romanians and Turks on a distinctly regional rather than global scale.

The causes and conditions of a 'European cosmopolitanism'

Finally, there are all the unanswered questions concerning cosmopolitanism. This has been the other great cause of progressive-minded European thinkers: that the European project, as a unique experiment in post-national democracy and governance, can — despite the threats of Fortress Europe or Eurocentrism — actually transcend its origins and embody the highest ideals of enlightenment cosmopolitanism. A nice dream, perhaps. But, as the lacunae in the current literature illustrate, how can we understand the sociological processes by which such cosmopolitanism might appear as a result of the EU's promotion of certain rights, values, symbols or notions of culture linked to European citizenship?

Our study is designed to furnish answers towards these unexplored mechanisms in European society. Advancing the Deutschian agenda, we should provide evidence of the actual effects of the full range of cross-national practices and experiences that might be attributed to the EU's promotional efforts, including both forms of physical and non-physical cross border mobilities within Europe. However, we also design the study with sceptical alternatives in mind. A different, non-spatial vision of Europe is suggested by other 'post-modern' social theorists, who emphasise the emergence of a global world order based on increasing reflexivity and individualism, organised on the basis of 'spaces of flows' and virtual networks, in which cosmopolitanism could never expect to be found in any spatially organised regional (or national) place.

Other applications would be suggested by our approach. We know very little about the actual socio-psychological mechanisms underlying European identification, even when it does occur. We would be able to answer questions about whether childhood socialisation or adult-life experiences are more fundamental. The key theoretical question – to which we will seek to give an empirically grounded answer – is whether experiences cause cosmopolitanism or a cosmopolitan disposition causes mobile experiences to be chosen. Arguably, the two mechanisms are not mutually exclusive, but their relative weight does matter both theoretically and with a policy-oriented perspective (e.g., is it more fruitful for the EU to promote itself among school children or making adults move?).

As works by Mau and associates (2008) and Savage and associates (2005) suggest, a somewhat different point of view is reached when the research itself is not framed by the EU as such or made on already 'highly Europeanised populations', but rather as an investigation into the internationalisation and cosmopolitanism of national populations — who may or may not find the European dimension salient. On this question, rather different levels of commitment in various countries might be expected. As Savage et al. (2005) found, for instance, residents in North West England have much more significant ties with family and friends living in Anglophone parts of the world (e.g. Australasia, North America, South Africa) than geographically and politically closer areas in Europe. The strength of these dominant cross-border practices might be an important reason for the

relative Euroscepticism amongst large numbers of British nationals, although research proving this relationship has yet to be made. Regarding business travel, the same study shows that American connections via regular travel for work play a much bigger role in the values and identifications of British executives in the North West of England than more 'regional' European ones. Fligstein's (2008) claim that the European project is largely a conscious intervention by a Europeanised professional-executive class thus needs to be checked against different national contexts, and in relation to EU citizens who might work for multinational organisations based in different parts of the world. These considerations again shall be vital in the development of the EUCROSS project.

In sum, while some examples of data gathering on the Europeanisation of everyday lives can be found, two main theoretical and methodological problems loom large in the literature. First, as this overview of the existing studies on socio-cultural Europeanisation, identity, cross-border practices, and cosmopolitanism reveals, rarely are these concepts treated altogether specifying the link between spatially and culturally situated behaviours on the one hand and collective identifications and value orientations on the other. To achieve this, a step forward in the *scope* of research design, so to pull all the aforementioned threads, is needed. The second manifest lacuna has in fact to do with the *scale* of the existing studies. Few are comparative, and none includes simultaneously native and immigrant populations, who in fact may attest of different modalities in which the behaviour-identity link can take place. Bridging these two gaps is precisely the goal of the EUCROSS project.

## References

- Abdelal, Rawi, Yoshiko M. Herrera, Alastair I. Johnston and Rose McDermott. 2009. *Measuring Identity: A Guide for Social Scientists*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Abélès, Marc. 1996. "La communauté européenne: Une perspective anthropologique." *Social Anthropology* 4 (1): 33-45.
- Ackers, Louise. 1998. Shifting Spaces: Women, Citizenship and Migration Within the European Union. Bristol: Policy Press.
- Ackers, Louise and Peter Dwyer. 2002. Senior Citizenship? Retirement, Migration and Welfare in the European Union. Bristol: Policy Press.
- Ackers, Louise and Bryony Gill. 2008. *Moving People and Knowledge: Scientific Mobility in an Enlarging European Union*. Cheltenham: Elgar.
- Ackers, Louise and Helen Stalford. 2004. A Community for Children? Children, Citizenship and Internal Migration in the EU. Aldershot: Ashgate.
- Adler, Emmanuel and Michael Barnett. 1998. "Security Communities in Theoretical Perspective." In *Security Communities*, edited by Emmanuel Adler and Michael Barnett. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Aghion, Philippe, Giuseppe Bertola, Martin Hellwig, Jean Pisani-Ferry, Dariusz Rosati, Helen Wallace, Marco Buti, et al. 2004. *An Agenda for a Growing Europe: Sapir Report*. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Alaminos, Antonio and Oscar Santacreu. 2009. "Living Across Cultures in a Transnational Europe." In *Pioneers of European Integration: Citizenship and Mobility in the EU*, edited by Ettore Recchi and Adrian Favell. Cheltenham: Elgar.
- Amit-Talai, Vered. 1997. "In Precarious Motion: From Territorial to Transnational Cultures." *Canadian Review of Sociology and Anthropology* 34 (3): 319-332.
- Anderson, James and Liam O'Dowd. 1999. "Borders, Border Regions and Territoriality: Contradictory Meanings, Changing Significance." *Regional Studies* 33 (7): 593-604.
- Andreotti, Alberta and Patrick Le Galès. 2011. "Elites, Middle Classes and Cities." In *Sociology of the European Union*, edited by Adrian Favell and Virginie Guiraudon. Basingstoke: Palgrave Macmillan.
- Antonsich, Marco. 2008. "EUropean Attachment and Meanings of EUrope. A Qualitative Study in the EU-15." *Political Geography* 27 (6): 691-710.
- Aradau, Claudia, Jef Huysmans, and Vicki Squire. 2010. "Acts of European Citizenship: A Political Sociology of Mobility." *Journal of Common Market Studies* 48 (4): 945-965.
- Archibugi, Daniele. 1998. "Principles of Cosmopolitan Democracy." In *Re-imagining Political Community: Studies in Cosmopolitan Democracy*, edited by Daniele Archibugi, David Held and Martin Kohler. Cambridge: Polity.
- Axhausen, Kay. W. 2005. "Activity Spaces, Biographies, Social Network and Their Welfare Gains and Externalities: Some Hypotheses and Empirical Results." *Arbeitsbericht Verkehrs- und Raumplanung* 290.
- ———. 2008. "Social Networks, Mobility Biographies, and Travel: Survey Challenges." *Arbeitsbericht Verkehrs- und Raumplanung* 343.

- Bach, Maurizio. 2000. *Die Europäisierung nationaler Gesellschaften*. Kölner Zeitschrift für Soziologie und Sozialpsychologie. Sonderheft; 40. Wiesbaden: Westdeutscher Verlag.
- Bach, Maurizio, Christian Lahusen, and Georg Vobruba. 2006. *Europe in Motion: Social Dynamics and Political Institutions in an Enlarging Europe*. Berlin: Sigma.
- Bade, Klaus. 2000. Europa in Bewegung: Migration vom späten 18. Jahrhundert bis zur Gegenwart. München: C. H. Beck.
- Baldoni, Emiliana. 2003. *The Free Movement of Persons in the European Union: A Legal-Historical Overview.* PIONEUR Working Paper n. 2. Florence: CIUSPO.
- Balibar, Etienne. 2001. *Nous, citoyens d'Europe?: les frontières, l'État, le peuple*. Paris: La Découverte.
- ———. 2004. *We, The People of Europe? Reflections on Transnational Citizenship.* Princeton: Princeton University Press.
- Bartolini, Stefano. 2005. Restructuring Europe: Centre Formation, System Building and Political Structuring Between the Nation-State and the European Union. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Bauman, Zygmunt. 2000a. Globalization: The Human Consequences. Cambridge: Polity Press.
- ———. 2000b. Liquid Modernity. Cambridge: Polity Press.
- Beck, Ulrich. 2002. "The Cosmopolitan Society and Its Enemies." *Theory Culture Society* 19 (1-2): 17-44.
- Beck, Ulrich and Edgar Grande. 2004. *Das kosmopolitische Europa. Gesellschaft und Politik in der Zweiten Moderne*. Frankfurt am Main: Suhrkamp Verlag.
- ———. 2007. "Cosmopolitanism: Europe's Way Out of Crisis." *European Journal of Social Theory* 10 (1): 67-85.
- ———. 2010. "Varieties of Second Modernity: The Cosmopolitan Turn in Social and Political Theory and Research." *British Journal of Sociology* 61 (3): 409-443.
- Beck, Ulrich and Natan Sznaider. 2006. "Unpacking Cosmopolitanism for the Social Sciences: A Research Agenda." *British Journal of Sociology* 57 (1): 1-23.
- Beckfield, Jason. 2006. "European Integration and Income Inequality." *American Sociological Review* 71 (6): pp. 964-985.
- Bellamy, Richard, Dario Castiglione, and Emilio Santoro, eds. 2004. *Lineages of European Citizenship: Rights, Belonging and Participation in Eleven Nation-States*. Basingstoke: Palgrave Macmillan.
- Bellamy, Richard, Dario Castiglione, and Jo Shaw. 2006. *Making European Citizens: Civic Inclusion in a Transnational Context*. Basingstoke: Palgrave Macmillan.
- Benson, Michaela and Karen O'Reilly. 2009. "Migration and the Search for a Better Way of Life: A Critical Exploration of Lifestyle Migration." *The Sociological Review* 57 (4): 608-625.
- Berezin, Mabel. 2003. "Territory, Emotion and Identity: Spatial Recalibration in a New Europe." In Europe Without Borders: Remapping Territory, Citizenship and Identity in a Transnational Age, edited by Mabel Berezin and Martin Schain. Baltimore: Johns Hopkins University Press.

- Berezin, Mabel and Martin Schain, eds. 2003. Europe Without Borders: Remapping Territory, Citizenship, and Identity in a Transnational Age. Baltimore: Johns Hopkins University Press.
- Berezin, Mabel and Juan Díez Medrano. 2007. "Distance Matters: Place, Political Legitimacy and Popular Support for European Integration". *Comparative European Politics* 6 (1): 1-32.
- Berger, Peter A. and Anja Weiß, eds. 2008. *Transnationalisierung sozialer Ungleichheit*. Wiesbaden: VS Verlag für Sozialwissenschaften.
- Bettin Lattes, Gianfranco and Marco Bontempi, eds. 2008. *Generazione Erasmus? L'identità Europa tra vissuto e istituzioni*. Florence: Firenze University Press.
- Bigo, Didier and Elspeth Guild, eds. 2005. *Controlling Frontiers: Free Movement into and within Europe*. Aldershot: Ashgate.
- Birindelli, Lorenzo and Emiliano Rustichelli. 2007. *Economic Benefits of Long-Distance Mobility*. Dublin: European Foundation for the Improvement of Working and Living Conditions.
- Blalock, Hubert M. 1967. Toward a Theory of Minority-Group Relations. New York: Wiley.
- Block, Laura. 2004. *Europeanisation From Below? On the European Identity of Intra-EU Migrants*. M.A. Dissertation. Universiteit Maastricht.
- Blume, S. 1998. "Rapporto sull'internazionalizzazione della formazione alla ricerca in Europa." In La mobilità delle intelligenze in Europa. Internazionalizzazione della formazione e dottorato di ricerca, edited by Sveva Avveduto and Patrizia Egle Cipollone. Milan: Angeli.
- Blumer, Herbert. 1958. "Race Prejudice as a Sense of Group Position." *The Pacific Sociological Review* 1 (1): 3-7.
- Borneman, John and Nick Fowler. 1997. "Europeanization." *Annual Review of Anthropology* 26: 487-514.
- Börzel, Tanja A. and Thomas Risse. 2003. "Conceptualizing the Domestic Impact of Europe." In *The politics of Europeanization*, edited by Kevin Featherstone and Claudio M. Radaelli. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Braun, Michael. 2010. "Foreign Language Proficiency of Intra-European Migrants: A Multilevel Analysis." European Sociological Review 26 (5): 603-617.
- Braun, Michael and Angelika Glöckner-Rist. 2011. "Patterns of Social Integration of Western European Migrants." *Journal of International Migration and Integration*, online publication, DOI 10.1007/s12134-011-0214-4.
- Braun, Michael and Ettore Recchi. 2008. "Interethnic Partnerships of Western Europeans: Between Preferences and Opportunities." *Revista Obets* 1 (1): 73-89.
- ———. 2009. "Free-Moving Western Europeans: An Empirically Based Portrait." In *Migration and Mobility in Europe: Trends, Patterns and Control*, edited by Heinz Fassmann, Max Haller and David Lane. Cheltenham: Elgar.
- Brewer, Marilynn B. and Masaki Yuki. 2007. "Culture and Social Identity." In *Handbook of Cultural Psychology*, edited by Shinobu Kitayama and Dov Cohen, 307-322. New York: Guilford.
- Brubaker, Rogers and Frederick Cooper. 2000. "Beyond 'Identity'." *Theory and Society* 29 (1): 1-47.
- Bruter, Michael. 2003. "Winning Hearts and Minds for Europe: The Impact of News and Symbols on Civic and Cultural Identity." *Comparative Political Studies* 36 (10): 1148-1179.

- ——. 2004a. "Civic and Cultural Components of a European Identity: A Pilot Model of Measurement of Citizens' Levels of European Identity." In *Transnational Identities. Becoming European in the EU*, edited by Richard K. Herrmann, Thomas Risse and Marilynn B. Brewer. Lanham: Rowman & Littlefield.
- ———. 2004b. "On What Citizens Mean by Feeling 'European': Perceptions of News, Symbols and Borderless-ness." *Journal of Ethnic and Migration Studies* 30 (1): 21-39.
- ———. 2005. *Citizens of Europe? The Emergence of a Mass European Identity*. Basingstoke: Palgrave Macmillan.
- Burawoy, Michael, Joseph A. Blum, Sheba George, Zsuzsa Gille, Teresa Gowan, Lynne Haney, Maren Klawiter, Steven H. Lopez, Seán Ó Riain, and Millie Thayer. 2000. *Global Ethnography: Forces, Connections, and Imaginations in a Postmodern World*. Berkeley: University of California Press.
- Burrell, Kathy. 2006. *Moving Lives: Narratives of Nation and Migration Among Europeans in Post-War Britain*. Aldershot: Ashgate.
- Büscher, Monika, John Urry, and Katian Witchger, eds. 2010. Mobile Methods. London: Routledge.
- Calhoun, Craig. 2002. "The Class Consciousness of Frequent Travelers: Toward a Critique of Actually Existing Cosmopolitanism." *The South Atlantic Quarterly* 101 (4): 869-897.
- Canzler, Weert, Vincent Kaufmann, and Sven Kesselring, eds. 2008. *Tracing Mobilities: Towards a Cosmopolitan Perspective*. Aldershot: Ashgate.
- Carey, Sean. 2002. "Undivided Loyalties: Is National Identity an Obstacle to European Integration?" *European Union Politics* 3: 387-412.
- Case, Holly. 2009. "Being European: East and West". In *European Identity*, edited by Jeffrey Checkel and Peter Katzenstein. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Castano, Emanuele. 2004. "European Identity: A Social-psychological Perspective." In *Trasnational Identities*. *Becoming European in the EU*, edited by Richard K. Herrmann, Thomas Risse and Marilynn B. Brewer. Lanham: Rowman & Littlefield.
- Castells, Manuel. 2000. The Rise of the Network Society. 2nd ed. Oxford: Blackwell.
- ———. 2008. "The New Public Sphere: Global Civil Society, Communication Networks, and Global Governance." *Annals of the American Academy of Political and Social Science* 616 (1): 78-93.
- Checkel, Jeffrey T., ed. 2007. *International Institutions and Socialization in Europe*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Checkel, Jeffrey T. and Peter J. Katzenstein, eds. 2009. *European Identity*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Christiansen, Thomas, Knud Erik Jørgensen, and Antje Wiener. 2001. *The Social Construction of Europe*. Thousand Oaks: Sage.
- Citrin, Jack and John Sides. 2004. "More than Nationals: How Identity Choice matters in the New Europe." In *Transnational Identities: Becoming European in the EU*, edited by Richard K. Herrmann, Marilynn B. Brewer and Thomas Risse. Lanham: Rowman & Littlefield.
- Citrin, Jack et al. 2001. "The Meaning of American National Identity. Patterns of Ethnic Conflict and Consensus." In *Social Identity, Intergroup Conflict, and Conflict Reduction*, edited by Richard Achmore, Lee Jussim and David Wilder. Oxford: Oxford University Press.

- Cohen, Robin and Paul Kennedy. 2000. Global Sociology. London: Macmillan.
- Conradson, David and Alan Latham. 2005. "Transnational Urbanism: Attending to Everyday Practices and Mobilities." *Journal of Ethnic and Migration Studies* 31 (2): 227-233.
- Cram, Laura. 2012. "Does the EU Need a Navel? Implicit and Explicit Identification with the European Union." *Journal of Common Market Studies*, forthcoming.
- Cram, Laura et al. 2011. What Does the European Union Mean to its Citizens? Implicit Triggers, Identity(ies) and Attitudes to the European Union. <a href="http://ssrn.com/abstract=1900063">http://ssrn.com/abstract=1900063</a>: APSA 2011 Annual Meeting Paper.
- Crouch, Colin. 1999. Social Change in Western Europe. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- De Federico de la Rúa, Ainhoa. 2002. "Amistad e identificación: Las micro fundaciones de las pertenencias macro. Amigos europeos e identidad europea." Redes Revista hispana para el análisis de redes sociales 3 (6). Online publication. http://revista-redes.rediris.es/html-vol3/vol3\_6.htm.
- De Vries, Chatherine E. and Erika E. Edwards. 2009. "Taking Europe to its Extremes: Extremist Parties and Public Euroscepticism." *Party Politics* 15 (1): 5-28.
- Delanty, Gerard. 1998. "Social Theory and European Transformations: Is There a European Society?" Sociological Research Online 3 (1): 1-24.
- ———. 2000. *Citizenship in a Global Age: Society, Culture, Politics*. Buckingham: Open University Press.
- ——. 2002. "Models of European Identity: Reconciling Universalism and Particularism." *Perspectives on European Politics and Society* 3 (3): 345-359.
- ———. 2006. "The Cosmopolitan Imagination: Critical Cosmopolitanism and Social Theory. "

  British Journal of Sociology 57 (1): 25-47.
- Delanty, Gerard and Chris Rumford. 2005. *Rethinking Europe: Social Theory and the Implications of Europeanization*. London: Routledge.
- Delhey, Jan. 2004. "European Social Integration: From Convergence of Countries to Transnational Relations Between Peoples." WZB Working Paper SP I 2004-201.
- Delhey, Jan/Kohler, Ulrich. 2006."From Nationally Bounded to Pan-European Inequalities? On the Importance of Foreign Countries as Reference Groups". *European Sociological Review*, 22 (2): 125-140.
- Della Porta, Donatella, ed. 2009. *Another Europe*. London: Routledge.
- Della Porta, Donatella, Andretta Massimiliano, Lorenzo Mosca, and Herbert Reiter. 2006. *Globalization from Below*. Minneapolis: University of Minnesota Press.
- Della Sala, Vincent and Carlo Ruzza. 2007. *Governance and Civil Society in the European Union: Exploring Policy Issues.* Manchester: Manchester University Press.
- Deutsch, Karl W. 1954. *Political Community at the International Level. Problems of Definition and Measurement.* Garden City: Doubleday.
- ———. 1969. *Nationalism and Its Alternatives*. New York: Knopf.
- Deutsch, Karl W., Sidney Burrell, Robert Kann, Maurice Lee, Martin Lichterman, Raymond Lindgren, Francis Loewenheim, and Richard van Wagenen. 1957. *Political Community and the*

- North Atlantic Area: International Organization in the Light of Historical Experience. Princeton: Princeton University Press.
- Díez Medrano, Juan. 2003. Framing Europe: Attitudes to European Integration in Germany, Spain, and the United Kingdom. Princeton: Princeton University Press.
- ———. 2008. Europeanization and the Emergence of a European Society. Working paper 2008/12. Barcelona: IBEI.
- ———. 2010a. A New Society in the Making: European Integration and European Social Groups. Mimeo. Barcelona: IBEI.
- ———. 2010b. "Unpacking European Identity." Politique Européenne 30 (1): 45-66.
- Díez Medrano, Juan and Paula Gutiérrez. 2001. "Nested identities: National and European Identity in Spain." *Ethnic and Racial Studies* 24 (4): 753-778.
- Duchesne, Sophie. 2010. "L'identité européenne, entre science politique et science fiction. », *Politique européenne* 1/2010 (n° 30), p. 7-16." *Politique Européenne* 30 (1): 67-106.
- Duchesne, Sophie and André-Paul Frognier. 1995. "Is There a European Identity?" In *Public Opinion and Internationalized Governance*, edited by Oskar Niedermeyer and Richard Sinnott. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- ——. 2002. "Sur les dynamiques sociologiques et politiques de l'identification à L'Europe." Revue Française de Science Politique 52 (4): 355-373.
- ———. 2008. "National and European Identifications: A Dual Relationship." *Comparative European Politics* 6 (2): 143-168.
- Dürrschmidt, Jörg. 2006. "So Near Yet So Far: Blocked Networks, Global Links and Multiple Exclusion in the German-Polish Borderlands." *Global Networks* 6 (3): 245-263.
- Ecker-Ehrhart, Matthias. 2011. "Cosmopolitan Politization: How Perceptions of Interdependence Foster Citizens Expectations in International Institutions." *European Journal of international Relations*, forthcoming.
- Eder, Klaus and Bernhard Giesen, eds. 2001. *European Citizenship Between National Legacies and Postnational Projects*. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Ehrkamp, Patricia. 2005. "Placing Identities: Transnational Practices and Local Attachments of Turkish Immigrants in Germany." *Journal of Ethnic and Migration Studies* 31 (2): 345-364.
- Eidelson, Roy J. and Ian Lustick. 2003. "National Identity Repertoires, Territory and Globalization." In *Europe without Borders. Remapping Territory, Citizenship, and Identity in a Transnational Age*, edited by Mabel Berezin and Martin Schain. Baltimore: John Hopkins University Press.
- Eigmüller, Monika and Georg Vobruba. 2006. *Grenzsoziologie. Die politische Structurierung des Raumes*. Wiesbaden: VS Verlag für Sozialwissenschaften.
- Elliott, Anthony and John Urry. 2010. *Mobile Lives*. London: Routledge.
- Erikson, Erik H. 1956. "The Problem of Ego Identity." *Journal of the American Psychoanalytic Association* 4: 56-121.
- Esping-Andersen, Gösta. 1999. *Social Foundations of Post-Industrial Economies*. Oxford: Oxford University Press.

- European Commission. 2006. Europeans and Mobility: First Results of an EU-wide Survey. Luxembourg: Office for Official Publications of the European Communities.
- ———. 2009. Eurobarometer 71: Public Opinion in the European Union. Full Report. Luxembourg: Office for Official Publications of the European Communities.
- ———. 2011. *Special Eurobarometer 346 / Wave 73.3. New Europeans. Report.* Luxembourg: Office for Official Publications of the European Communities.
- Faist, Thomas. 2001. "Social Citizenship in the European Union: Nested Membership." *Journal of Common Market Studies* 39 (1): 37-58.
- Falkner, Gerda. 2003. "Comparing Europeanisation Effects: From Metaphor to Operationalisation." European Integration Online Papers 7.
- Favell, Adrian. 2003. "Games Without Frontiers? Questioning the Transnational Social Power of Migrants in European Journal of Sociology (44): 397-427.
- ———. 2005. "Europe's Identity Problem." West European Politics 28 (5): 1109-1116.
- ———. 2007. "The Sociology of EU Politics." In *Handbook of European Union Politics*, edited by Knud Erik Joergensen, Mark A. Pollack and Ben Rosamond. Thousand Oaks: Sage.
- ———. 2008a. Eurostars and Eurocities: Free Movement and Mobility in an Integrating Europe. Oxford: Blackwell.
- ———. 2008b. "The New Face of East-West Migration in Europe." *Journal of Ethnic and Migration Studies* 34 (5): 701-716.
- ——. 2009. "Immigration, Migration, and Free Movement in the Making of Europe." In *European Identity*, edited by Jeffrey T. Checkel and Peter J. Katzenstein. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Favell, Adrian and Virginie Guiraudon. 2009. "The Sociology of the European Union: An Agenda." European Union Politics 10 (4): 550-576.
- ———. 2011. *Sociology of the European Union*. Basingstoke: Palgrave Macmillan.
- Favell, Adrian and Tina Nebe. 2009. "Internal and External Movers: East-West Migration and the Impact of EU Enlargement." In *Pioneers of European Integration: Citizenship and Mobility in the EU*, edited by Ettore Recchi and Adrian Favell. Cheltenham: Elgar.
- Favell, Adrian and Ettore Recchi. 2011. "Social Mobility and Spatial Mobility." In Sociology of the European Union, edited by Adrian Favell and Virginie Guiraudon. Basingstoke: Palgrave Macmillan.
- Featherstone, Kevin and Claudio M. Radaelli. 2003. *The Politics of Europeanization*. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Fibbi, Rosita and Gianni D'Amato. 2008. "Transnationalisme des migrants en Europe: Une preuve par les faits." Revue Europëenne des Migrants Internationales 24 (2): 7-22.
- Fligstein, Neil. 2008. *Euroclash: the EU, European Identity, and the Future of Europe*. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Fligstein, Neil and Frédéric Merand. 2002. "Globalization or Europeanization? Evidence on the European Economy since 1980." *Acta Sociologica* 45 (1): 7-22.

- Flockhart, Trine. 2010. "Europeanization or EU-ization? The Transfer of European Norms across Time and Space." *Journal of Common Market Studies* 48 (4): 787-810.
- Fouarge, Didier and Peter Ester. 2007. Factors Determining International and Regional Migration in Europe. Dublin: European foundation for the improvement on living and working conditions.
- Frändberg, Lotta. 2009. "How Normal is Travelling Abroad? Differences in Transnational Mobility Among Groups of Young Swedes." *Environment and Planning A* 41 (3): 649-667.
- Fuchs, Dieter et al. 2009. "National Identity, European Identity and Euroscepticism." In *Euroscepticism. Images of Europe among Mass Publics and Political Elites*, edited by Dieter Fuchs, Raul Magni-Berton and Antoine Roger. Opladen: Budrich.
- Furia, Peter. 2005. "Global Citizenship, Anyone? Cosmopolitanism, Privilege and Public Opinion." *Global Society* 19 (4): 331-359.
- Gabel, Matthew J. 1998. *Interests and Integration: Market Liberalization, Public Opinion, and European Union*. Ann Arbor: University of Michigan Press.
- García Faroldi, Livia. 2008. Construyendo Europa: Las redes sociales en la difusión de actitudes e indetificacione hacia la Unión EUropea. Madrid: Cis.
- Gaspar, S. 2011. "Comparing EU Bi-national Partnerships in Spain and Italy." *Sociologia Online* 3. Online publication. <a href="http://revista.aps.pt/cms/files/artigos">http://revista.aps.pt/cms/files/artigos</a> <a href="pdf/ART4dc28e96f0538.pdf">pdf/ART4dc28e96f0538.pdf</a>.
- Gerhards, Jürgen. 2007. Cultural Overstretch: The Enlargement of the European Union and the Cultural Differences Between Old and New Member States and Turkey. London: Routledge.
- ———. 2010. Mehrsprachigkeit im vereinten Europa. Transnationales sprachliches Kapital als Ressource in einer globalisierten Welt. Wiesbaden: VS Verlag für Sozialwissenschaften.
- Giddens, Anthony. 2002. *Runaway World: How Globalisation is Reshaping Our Lives*. London: Profile.
- Glick Schiller, Nina, Linda Basch, and Christina Blanc-Szanton. 1992. *Transnationalism: A New Analytical Framework for Understanding Migration*. New York: New York Academy of Sciences.
- ———. 1995. "From Immigrant to Transmigrant: Theorizing Transnational Migration." *Anthropological Quarterly* 68 (1): 48-63.
- Graziano, Paolo and Maarten Peter Vink. 2008. *Europeanization: New Research Agendas*. Basingstoke: Palgrave Macmillan.
- Green Cowles, Maria, James Caporaso, and Thomas Risse. 2001. *Transforming Europe: Europeanization and Domestic Change*. Ithaca: Cornell University Press.
- Green, David M. 2007. *The Europeans: Political Identity in an Emerging Polity*. Boulder: Lynne Rienner.
- Green, Nicola. 2002. "On the Move: Technology, Mobility, and the Mediation of Social Time and Space." *Information Society* 18 (4): 281-292.
- Grundy, Sue and Lynn Jamieson. 2007. "European Identities: From Absent-Minded Citizens to Passionate Europeans." *Journal of the British Sociological Association* 41 (4): 663-680.

- Guarnizo, Luis E. and Michael Peter Smith. 1998. "The Location of Transnationalism." In *Transnationalism From Below*, edited by Michael Peter Smith and Luis E. Guarnizo. New Brunswick: Transaction.
- Guild, Elspeth. 1999. *The Legal Framework and Social Consequences of Free Movement of Persons in the European Union*. The Hague: Kluwer Law International.
- ———. 2009. Security and Migration in the 21st Century. Cambridge: Polity Press.
- Guiraudon, Virginie. 2011. "Mobilization, Social Movements and the Media." In *Sociology of the European Union*, edited by Adrian Favell and Virginie Guiraudon. Basingstoke: Palgrave Macmillan.
- Gustafson, Per. 2001. "Retirement Migration and Transnational Lifestyles." *Ageing and Society* 21 (4): 371-394.
- ———. 2009. "More Cosmopolitan, No Less Local The Orientations of International Travellers." *European Societies* 11 (1): 25-47.
- Habermas, Jürgen. 1992. "Citizenship and National Identity: Some Reflections on the Future of Europe." *Praxis International* 12 (1): 1-19.
- Hadler, Markus. 2006. "Intentions to Migrate Within the European Union: A Challenge for Simple Economic Macro-Level Explanations " *European Societies* 8 (1): 111-140.
- Hainmueller, Jens and Michael J. Hiscox. 2006. "Learning to Love Globalization: Education and Individual Attitudes Toward International Trade." *International Organization* 60 (2): 469-498.
- Haller, William and Victor Roudometof. 2010. "The Cosmopolitan-Local Continuum in a Cross-National Perspective." *Journal of Sociology* 46 (3): 277-297.
- Hansen, Peo. 2002. "European Integration, European Identity and the Colonial Connection." European Journal of Social Theory 5 (4): 483-498.
- Haus, Leah. 2009. "Europeanization, Education, and School Curricula: The Role of Historical Legacies in Explaining Policy Variation Between England and France." *Comparative Political Studies* 42 (7): 916-944.
- Herrmann, Richard K., Thomas Risse, and Marilynn B. Brewer, eds. 2004. *Transnational Identities: Becoming European in the EU*. Lanham: Rowman & Littlefield.
- Hinderliter Ortloff, Debora. 2005. "Becoming European: A Framing Analysis of Three Countries' Civics Education Curricula." *European Education* 37 (4): 35-49.
- Hobolt, Sara Binzer. 2009. Europe in Question: Referendums on European integration. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Holmes, Douglas R. 2000. *Integral Europe: Fast Capitalism, Multiculturalism, Neofascism*. Princeton: Princeton University Press.
- Hooghe, Liesbet. 2005. "Several Roads Lead to International Norms, but Few Via International Socialization: A Case Study of the European Commission." *International Organization* 59 (4): 861-898.
- ———. 2007. "What Drives Euroskepticism? Party-Public Cueing, Ideology and Strategic Oppotunity." *European Union Politics* 8 (1): 5-12.
- Hooghe, Liesbet and Gary Marks. 2004. "Does Identity or Economic Rationality drive Public Opinion on European integration?" *PS-Political Science & Politics* 37 (3): 415-420.

- ———. 2008. "A Postfunctionalist Theory of European Integration: From Permissive Consensus to Constraining Dissensus." *British Journal of Political Science* 39 (1): 1-23.
- Howe, Paul. 1995. "A Community of Europeans: The Requisite Underpinnings." *Journal of Common Market Studies* 33 (1): 27-46.
- Imig, Douglas R. and Sidney G. Tarrow. 2001. *Contentious Europeans: Protest and Politics in an Emerging Polity*. Lanham: Rowman & Littlefield.
- Inglehart, Ronald. 1970. "Cognitive Mobilization and European Identity." *Comparative Politics* 3 (1): 45-70.
- Jensen, Anne and Tim Richardson. 2007. "New Region, New Story: Imagining Mobile Subjects in Transnational Space." Space & Polity 11 (2): 137-150.
- Jensen, Ole B. and Tim Richardson. 2004. *Making European Space: Mobility, Power and Territorial Identity*. London: Routledge.
- Jenson, Jane and Frédéric Mérand. 2010. "Sociology, Institutionalism and the European Union." Comparative European Politics 8 (1) 74-92.
- Jung, Jai Kwan. 2008. "Growing Supranational Identities in a Globalising World? A Multilevel Analysis of the World Values Surveys." *European Journal of Political Research* 47 (5): 578-609.
- Kaelble, Hartmut. 1987. Auf dem Weg zu einer europäischen Gesellschaft. Eine Sozialgeschichte Westeuropas, 1880-1980. Munich: Beck.
- ———. 1990. A Social History of Western Europe 1880-1980. Dublin: Gill and Macmillan.
- ———. 2004. *The European Way: European Societies in the 19th and 20th Centuries.* Oxford: Berghahn.
- ———. 2007. Sozialgeschichte Europas: 1945 bis zur Gegenwart. Munich: Beck.
- ——. 2009. "Identifications with Europe and Politicization of the EU since the 1980s." In *European Identities*, edited by Jeffrey T. Checkel and Peter J. Katzenstein. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Kaina, Viktoria and Ireneusz Pawel Karolewski. 2009. "EU Governance and European Identity." *Living Reviews in European Governance* 4 (2).
- Kaina, Viktora. 2006. "European Identity, Legitimacy and Trust: Conceptual Considerations and Perspectives on Empirical Research." In European Identity: Theoretical Perspectives and Empirical Insights, edited by Ireneusz Pawel Karolewski and Viktora Kaina. Münster: LIT Verlag.
- Kantner, Cathleen. 2006. "Collective Identity as Shared Ethical Self-Understanding. The Case of the Emerging European Identity." European Journal of Social Theory 9 (4): 501-523.
- Kaplan, Caren. 2002. "Transporting the Subject: Technologies of Mobility and Location in an Era of Globalization." *PMLA* 117 (1): 32-42.
- Katz, Elihu and Paul F. Lazarsfeld. 1955. Personal Influence: The Part Played by People in the Flow of Mass Communications. New York: Free Press.
- Katzenstein, Peter J. 2005. A World of Regions: Asia and Europe in the American Imperium. Ithaca: Cornell University Press.
- Keith, Malcolm and Stephen Pile. 1993. Place and the Politics of Identity. London: Routledge.

- Kennedy, Paul. 2004. "Making Global Society: Friendship Networks among Transnational Professionals in the Building Design Industry." *Global Networks* 4 (2): 157-179.
- King, Russell. 2002. "Towards a New Map of European Migration." *International Journal of Population Geography* 8 (2): 89-106.
- King, Russell and Enric Ruiz-Gelices. 2003. "International Student Migration and the European 'Year Abroad': Effects on European Identity and Subsequent Migration Behaviour." International Journal of Population Geography 9 (3): 229-252.
- King, Russell, Anthony M. Warnes, and Allan Williams. 2000. Sunset Lives: British Retirement Migration to the Mediterranean. Oxford: Berg.
- Kleingeld, Pauline and Erik Brown. 2006. "Cosmopolitanism." In *The Stanford Encyclopedia of Philosophy*, edited by Edward N. Zalta. Online publication. http://plato.stanford.edu/entries/cosmopolitanism/.
- Koehn, Peter H. and James Rosenau. 2002. "Transnational Competence in an Emergent Epoch." *International Studies Perspectives* 3 (2): 105-127.
- Kofman, Eleonore. 2005. "Figures of the Cosmopolitan: Privileged Nationals and National Outsiders." *Innovation* 18 (1): 83-97.
- Kohler-Koch, Beate, ed. 2003. *Linking EU and National Governance*. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Kohli, Martin. 2000. "The Battlegrounds of European Identity." European Societies 2 (2): 113-137.
- Koikkalainen, Saara. 2011. "Free Movement in Europe: Past and Present." *Migration Information Source*, April, online publication. <a href="http://www.migrationinformation.org/Feature/display.cfm?ID=836">http://www.migrationinformation.org/Feature/display.cfm?ID=836</a>.
- Koopmans, Ruud and Paul Statham. 1999. "Political Claims Analysis: Integration Protest Event and political Discourse Approaches." *Mobilization: An International Journal* 4 (2): 203-222.
- ———. 2010. *The Making of a European Public Sphere: Media Discourse and Political Contention*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Koops, Maike. 2002. Die Konstruktion nationaler und europäischer Identitäten am Beispiel der französischen Kulturpolitik 1981-1995. Osnabrück: Universitätsverlag Rasch.
- Koser, Kahlid and Helma Lutz. 1998. "The New Migration in Europe: Context, Constructions and Realities." In *The New Migration in Europe: Social Constructions and Social realities*, edited by Kahlid Koser and Helma Lutz. London: Macmillan.
- Koslowski, Rey. 1994. "Intra-EU Migration, Citizenship and Political Union." *Journal of Common Market Studies* 32 (3): 369-402.
- Kostakopoulou, Theodora. 1997. "Why a 'Community of Europeans' Could be a Community of Exclusion: A Reply to Howe." *Journal of Common Market Studies* 35 (2): 301-308.
- Krieger, Hubert. 2004. *Migration Trends in an Enlarged Europe*. Luxembourg: Office for Official Publications of the European Communities.
- Kriesi, Hanspeter, Edgar Grande, Romain Lachat, Martin Dolezal, Simon Bornschier, and Timotheos Frey. 2008. *West European Politics in the Age of Globalization*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

- Krotz, Ulrich. 2007. "Parapublic Underpinnings of International Relations: The Franco-German Construction of Europeanization of a Particular Kind." *European Journal of International Relations* 13 (3): 385-417.
- Kuhn, Theresa. 2011. "Individual Transnationalism, Globalisation and Euroscepticism: An Empirical Test of Deutsch's Transactionalist Theory." *European Journal of Political Research* 50 (6): 811-837.
- ——. 2012. "Europa ante Portas: Border Residence, Transnational Interaction and Euroscepticism in Germany and France." *European Union Politics* 13 (1), forthcoming.
- Lawler, Edward J. 1992. "Affective Attachments to Nested Groups: A Choice-Process Theory." *American Sociological Review* 57 (3): 327-339.
- Limmer, Ruth and Norbert F. Schneider. 2008. "Studying Job-Related Mobility in Europe." In Mobile Living Across Europe 1: Relevance and Diversity of Job-Related Spatial Mobility in Six European Countries, edited by Norbert F. Schneider and Gerardo Meil. Opladen: Barbara Budrich
- Loth, Wilifried. 2002. *Europäische Identität in historischer Perspektive*. Bonn: Zentrum für europäische Integrationsforschung.
- Luedtke, Adam. 2005. "European Integration, Public Opinion and Immigration Policy Testing the Impact of National Identity." European Union Politics 6 (1): 83-112.
- Maas, Willem. 2007. Creating European Citizens. Lanham: Rowman & Littlefield.
- MacDonald, Maryon, ed. 1993. *Towards an Anthropology of the European Union*. Brussels: European Commission.
- Magnette, Paul, 1999. La Citoyenneté européenne. Bruxelles: Editions de l'Université de Bruxelles.
- Mann, Michael. 1998. "Is There a Society Called Euro?" In *Globalization and Europe: Theoretical and Empirical Investigations*, edited by Roland Axtmann. London: Pinter.
- Martinsen, Dorte S. 2005. "The Europeanization of Welfare: The Domestic Impact of Intra-European Social Security." *Journal of Common Market Studies* 43 (5): 1027-1054.
- Mattli, Walter. 1999. *The Logic of Regional Integration: Europe and Beyond*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Mau, Steffen. 2010. Social Transnationalism. Lifeworlds Beyond the Nation-State. London: Routledge.
- Mau, Steffen, Jan Mewes, and Ann Zimmermann. 2008. "Cosmopolitan Attitudes Through Transnational Social Practices?" *Global Networks* 8 (1): 1-24.
- Mau, Steffen and Roland Verwiebe. 2009. *Die Sozialstruktur Europas*. Konstanz: UVK Verlagsgesellschaft.
- ———. 2010. European Societies. Mapping Structure and Change. Bristol: Policy Press.
- Mau, Steffen and Sebastian M. Büttner. 2010. "Transnationality." In *Handbook of European Societies*, edited by Stefan Immerfall and Göran Therborn. New York: Springer.
- McDonald, Sharon. 1993. Inside European Identities: Ethnology in Western Europe. Oxford: Berg.
- McLaren, Lauren M. 2006. *Identity, Interests, and Attitudes to European Integration*. Basingstoke: Palgrave Macmillan.

- Meil, Gerardo. 2008. "Summary Job Mobility in Europe: Greater Differences Among Social Groups than Among Countries." In *Mobile Living Across Europe 1: Relevance and Diversity of Job-Related Spatial Mobility in Six European Countries*, edited by Gerardo Meil and Norbert F. Schneider. Opladen: Barbara Budrich.
- Meil, Gerardo and Norbert F. Schneider, eds. 2008. *Mobile Living Across Europe I: Relevance and Diversity of Job-Related Spatial Mobility in Six European Countries*. Opladen: Barbara Budrich.
- Meinhof, Ulrike Hanna, ed. 2002. *Living (with) Borders: Identity Discourses on East-West Borders in Europe*. Aldershot: Ashgate.
- ——. 2003. "Migrating Borders: An Introduction to European Identity Construction in Process." *Journal of Ethnic and Migration Studies* 29 (5): 781-796.
- ———. 2004. "Europe Viewed from Below: Agents, Victims, and the Threat of the Other." In *Transnational Identities*. *Becoming European in the EU*, edited by Richard K. Herrmann, Thomas Risse and Marilynn B. Brewer. Lanham: Rowman & Littlefield.
- Mendras, Henri. 1997. L'Europe des Européens. Paris: Gallimard.
- Merton, Robert K. 1968. Social Theory and Social Structure. New York: The Free Press.
- Metykove, Monika. 2010. "Only a Mouse Click Away From Home: Transnational Practices of Eastern European Migrants in the United Kingdom." *Social Identities* 16 (3): 325-338.
- Meyer, John W. 2001. "The European Union and the Globalization of Culture." In *Institutional Approaches to the European Union: Arena Report No. 3/2001*. Oslo: ARENA.
- Mikkeli, Heikki. 1998. Europe as an Idea and as an Identity. Basingstoke: Macmillan.
- Moch, Leslie Page. 2003. *Moving Europeans: Migration in Western Europe since 1650*. 2nd edition Bloomington: Indiana University Press.
- Morawska, Ewa. 2002. "Transnational Migration in the Enlarged European Union." In Europe Unbound: Enlarging and Reshaping the Boundaries of the European Union, edited by Jan Zielonka, 161-190. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Mouffe, Chantal. 2000. The Democratic Paradox. London: Verso.
- Mummendey, Amélie and Sven Waldzus. 2004. "National Differences and European Plurality: Discrimination or Tolerance Between European Countries." In *Transnational Identities*. *Becoming European in the EU*, edited by Richard K. Herrmann, Thomas Risse and Marilynn B. Brewer. Lanham: Rowman & Littlefield.
- Nederveen Pieterse, Jan. 1999. "Europe, Travelling Light: Europeanization and Globalization." *The European Legacy* 4 (3): 3-17.
- Nissen, Sylke. 2006. "European Identity and the Future of Europe." In Europe in Motion. Social Dynamics and Political Institutions in an Enlarging Europe, edited by Maurizio Bach, Christian Lahusen and Georg Vobruba. Berlin: Sigma.
- Norris, Pippa. 2000. "Global Governance and Cosmopolitan Citizens'." In *Governance in a Globalizing World*, edited by Joseph S. Jr. Nye and John D. Donahue. Washington: Brookings Institution.
- Nowicka, Magdalena. 2005. *Transnational Professionals and Their Cosmopolitan Universes*. Frankfurt am Main: Campus.

- Nussbaum, Martha. 1997. "Kant and Stoic Cosmopolitanism." *Journal of Political Philosophy* 5 (1): 1-25.
- O'Dowd, Liam. 2001. "State Borders, Border Regions and the Construction of European Identity." In *Will Europe Work? Integration, Employment and the Social Order*, edited by Martin Kohli and Mojca Novak. London: Routledge.
- Olofsson, Anna and Susanna Öhman. 2007. "Cosmopolitans and Locals: An Empirical Investigation of Transnationalism." *Current Sociology* 55 (6): 877-895.
- Olsen, Johan P. 2002. "The Many Faces of Europeanization." *Journal of Common Market Studies* 40 (5): 921-952.
- O'Reilly, Karen. 2000. The British on the Costa del Sol: Transnational Identities and Local Communities. London: Routledge.
- ———. 2007. "Intra-European Migration and the Mobility-Enclosure Dialectic." *Sociology* 41 (2): 277-293.
- Ossewaarde, Marinus. 2007. "Cosmopolitanism and the Society of Strangers." *Current Sociology* 55 (3): 367-388.
- Paasi, A. and Eeya-Kaisa Prokkola. 2008. "Territorial Dynamics, Cross-border Work and Everyday Life in the Finnish-Swedish Border Area." In *Citizens and Borderwork in Contemporary Europe*, edited by Chris Rumford. London: Routledge.
- Pichler, Florian. 2008. "How Real is Cosmopolitanism in Europe?" Sociology 42: 1107-1126.
- ———. 2009a. ""Down-to-Earth" Cosmopolitanism: Subjective and Objective Measurements of Cosmopolitanism in Survey Research." *Current Sociology* 57 (5): 704-732.
- ———. 2009b. "Cosmopolitan Europe. Views and Identity." European Societies 11 (1): 3-24.
- Portes, Alejandro, Luis E. Guarnizo, and Patricia Landolt. 1999. "The Study of Transnationalism: Pitfalls and Promise of an Emergent Research Field." *Ethnic and Racial Studies* 22 (2): 217-237.
- Raab, Marcel, Michael Ruland, Hans-Peter Blossfeld, Dirk Hofäcker, Sandra Buchholz, and Paul Schmelzer. 2008. "GlobalIndex: A Sociological Approach to Globalization Measurement." *International Sociology* 23: 596-631.
- Radaelli, Claudio M. 2000. "Whither Europeanization? Concept Stretching and Substantive Change." *European Integration Online Papers* 4. http://eiop/pdf/2000-008.pdf.
- Recchi, Ettore. 2005. *Migrants and Europeans: An Outline of the Free Movement of Persons in the EU*. AMID Working Paper Series n. 38. Aalborg: The Academy for Migration Studies in Denmark.
- ———. 2008. "Cross-State Mobility in the EU: Trends, Puzzles and Consequences." *European Societies* 10 (2): 197-224.
- ———. 2009. "The Social Mobility of Mobile Europeans." In *Pioneers of European Integration:*Citizenship and Mobility in the EU, edited by Ettore Recchi and Adrian Favell. Cheltenham:
  Elgar.
- Recchi, Ettore and Adrian Favell, eds. 2009. *Pioneers of European Integration: Citizenship and Mobility in the EU.* Cheltenham: Elgar.

- Recchi, Ettore and Tina Nebe. 2003. *Migration and Political Identity in the European Union:* Research Issues and Theoretical Premises. PIONEUR Working Paper n. 1. Florence: CIUSPO.
- Recchi, Ettore and Anna Triandafyllidou. 2010. "Crossing over, Heading West and South: Mobility, Citizenship, and Employment in the Enlarged Europe." In *Labor Migration in Europe*, edited by George Menz and Alexander Caviedes. Basingstoke: Palgrave Macmillan.
- Rippl, Susanne, Nicola Bűcker, Anke Petrat and Klaus Boehnke. 2010. "Crossing the Frontier: Transnational Social Integration in the EU's Border Regions." *International Journal of Comparative Sociology* 51 (1-2): 5-31.
- Risse, Thomas. 2004. "Social Constructivism and European Integration." In *European Integration Theory*, edited by Antje Wiener and Thomas Diez. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- ———. 2010. A Community of Europeans? Transnational Identities and Public Spheres. Ithaca: Cornell University Press.
- Robyn, Richard. 2005. The Changing Face of European Identity. London: Routledge.
- Rodríguez, Vicente, Fernández-Mayoralas, and Fermina Rojo. 1998. "European Retirees on the Costa del Sol: a Cross-National Comparison." *International Journal of Population Geography* 4 (2): 183-200.
- Rodriguez-Pose, Andres. 2002. *The European Union: Economy, Society and Polity*. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Roeder, Antje. 2011. "Does Mobility Matter for Attitudes to Europe? A Multi-level Analysis of Immigrants' Attitudes to European Unification." *Political Studies* 59 (2): 458-471.
- Rogers, Alisdair. 2005. "Observations on Transnational Urbanism: Broadening and Narrowing the Field." *Journal of Ethnic and Migration Studies* 31 (2): 403-407.
- Roose, Jochen. 2007. "Europäische Identifikation: Ein Mechanismus für die Akzeptanz von Zumutungen der europäischen Integration." In Europäische Identität: Voraussetzungen und Strategien, edited by Werner Weidenfeld and Julian Nida-Rümelin. Baden-Baden: Nomos.
- ———. 2010. Vergesellschaftung an Europas Binnengrenzen. Eine vergleichende Studie zu den Bedingungen sozialer Integration. Wiesbaden: VS Verlag für Sozialwissenschaften.
- Rosamond, Ben. 1999. "Discourses of Globalization and the Social Construction of European Identities." *Journal of European Public Policy* 6 (4): 652-668.
- Rother, Nina and Tina Nebe. 2009. "More Mobile, More European? Free Movement and EU Identity." In *Pioneers of European Integration: Citizenship and Mobility in the EU*, edited by Adrian Favell and Ettore Recchi. Cheltenham: Elgar.
- Roudometof, Victor. 2005. "Transnationalism, Cosmopolitanism and Glocalization." *Current Sociology* 53 (1): 113-135.
- Rumford, Chris. 2001. "Social Spaces Beyond Civil Society: European Integration, Globalization and the Sociology of European Society." *Innovation: the European Journal of Social Science Research* 14 (3): 205-218.
- ———. 2002. *The European Union: A Political Sociology*. Oxford: Blackwell.
- ——. 2003. "European Civil Society or Transnational Social Space? Conceptions of Society in Discourses of EU Citizenship, Governance and the Democratic Deficit: An Emerging Agenda." *European Journal of Social Theory* 6 (1): 25-43.

- Ruzza, Carlo. 2004. Europe and Civil Society: Movement Coalitions and European Institutions.

  Manchester: Manchester University Press.
- Salt, John and Sandra Schmidt. 2001. "The Development of Free Movement in the European Union." In *Caught in the Middle: Border Communities in an Era of Globalisation*, edited by D. Papademetriou and D. W. Meyers. Washington: Carnegie Endowment Publications.
- Sandu, Dimitru. 2005. "Emerging Transnational Migration from Romanian Villages." *Current Sociology* 53 (4): 555-582.
- ———. 2010a. "Home Orientation in Transnational Spaces of Romanian Migration." *Studia Sociologia* 2 (1): 15-36.
- ———. 2010b. *Social Worlds of Romanian Migration Abroad*. lasi: Polirom.
- Sassen, Saskia. 2006. *Territory, Authority, Rights: From Medieval to Global Assemblages*. Princeton: Princeton University Press.
- Saurugger, Sabine. 2010. "Does European Integration Theory Need Sociology?" *Comparative European Politics* 8 (1): 1-18.
- Savage, Michael, Gaynor Bagnall, and Brian Longhurst. 2005. *Globalization and Belonging*. Thousand Oaks: Sage.
- Schissler, Hanna and Yasemin Nuhoğlu Soysal. 2005. *The Nation, Europe, and the World: Textbooks and Curricula in Transition*. New York: Berghahn.
- Schlenker, Andrea. 2011. Cosmopolitan Europeans or Partisans of Fortress Europe? Supra-National Identity Patterns in the EU. Paper presented at the ECPR General Conference, Reykjavik.
- Scott, Sam. 2004. "Transnational Exchanges Amongst Skilled British Migrants in Paris." *Population, Space and Place* 10 (5): 391-410.
- Shore, Chris. 1993. "Inventing the 'People's Europe': Critical Approaches to European Community 'Cultural Policy'." *Man* 28 (4): 779-800.
- ——. 1997. "Governing Europe: European Union Audiovisual Policy and the Politics of Identity." In *Anthropology of Policy*, edited by Chris Shore and Susan Wright. London: Routledge.
- ———. 2000. Building Europe: The Cultural Politics of European Integration. London: Routledge.
- Shore, Chris and Annabel Black. 1992. "The European Communities and the Construction of Europe." *Anthropology Today* 8 (3): 10-11.
- Sigalas, Emmanuel. 2010. "Cross-border Mobility and European Identity: The Effectiveness of Intergroup Contact During the ERASMUS Year Abroad." *European Union Politics* 11 (2): 241-265.
- Sinnott, Richard. 2005. "An Evaluation of the Measurement of National, Subnational and Supranational Identity in Crossnational Surveys." *International Journal of Public Opinion Research* 18 (2): 211-223.
- Sjursen, Helene. 2006. *Questioning EU Enlargement: Europe in Search of Identity*. London: Routledge.
- Smith, Anthony D. 1992. "National Identity and the Idea of European Unity." *International Affairs* 68 (1): 55-76.

- Smith, Michael Peter. 2001. Transnational Urbanism: Locating Globalization. Oxford: Blackwell.
- ———. 2005. "Transnational Urbanism Revisited." *Journal of Ethnic and Migration Studies* 31 (2): 235-244.
- Smith, Michael Peter and Adrian Favell. 2008. The Human Face of Global Mobility: International Highly Skilled Migration in Europe, North America and the Asia-Pacific. New Brunswick: Transaction.
- Soysal, Yasemin Nuhoğlu. 1994. *Limits of Citizenship: Migrants and Postnational Membership in Europe*. Chicago: University of Chicago Press.
- Stacul, Jaro, Christina Moutsou, and Helen Kopnina. 2007. *Crossing European Boundaries: Beyond Conventional Geographical Categories*. New York: Berghahn.
- Stoeckel, Florian. 2008. *The European Public Sphere, the Media and Support for the European Integration*. Berlin: Free University Berlin.
- Stråth, Bo. 2002. "A European Identity." European Journal of Social Theory 5 (4): 387-401.
- Tajfel, Henri. 1974. "Social Identity and Intergroup Behaviour." *Social Science Information* 13 (2): 65-93.
- ———. 1981. *Human Groups and Social Categories: Studies in Social Psychology*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Tarrius, Alain. 1992. "Circulation des élites professionnelles et intégration européenne. "Revue européenne de migrations internationales 8 (2): 27-56.
- ———. 2000. Les nouveaux cosmopolitismes: mobilités, identités, territoires. Paris: l'Aube.
- Tarrow, Sydney. 2005. The New Transnational Activism. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Therborn, Göran. 1995. European Modernity and Beyond: The Trajectory of European Societies, 1945-2000. Thousand Oaks: Sage.
- Ugur, Mehmet. 1995. "Freedom of Movement vs. Exclusion: A Reinterpretation of the 'Insider'-'Outsider' Divide in the European Union." *International Migration Review* 29 (4): 964-999.
- Urry, John. 2000. *Sociology Beyond Societies: Mobilities for the Twenty-first Century*. London: Routledge.
- ———. 2007. Mobilities. Cambridge: Polity.
- Vandenbrande, Tom, Laura Coppin, and Peter Van der Hallen. 2006. *Mobility in Europe: Analysis of the 2005 Eurobarometer Survey on Geographical and Labour Market Mobility*. Dublin: European Foundation for the Improvement of Working and Living Conditions.
- Vertovec, Steven. 1999. "Conceiving and Researching Transnationalism." Ethnic and Racial Studies 22 (2): 447.
- Vertovec, Steven and Robin Cohen, eds. 2002. *Conceiving Cosmopolitanism: Theory, Context, and Practice*. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Verwiebe, Roland. 2004. Transnationale Mobilität innerhalb Europas: Eine Studie zu den sozialstrukturellen Effekten der Europäisierung. Berlin: Sigma.
- ———. 2008. "Migration to Germany: Is a Middle Class Emerging among Intra-European Migrants?" *Migration Letters* 5 (1): 1-19.

- ——. 2011. "Why do Europeans Migrate to Berlin? Social-Structural Differences for Italian, British, French and Polish Nationals in the Period Between 1980 and 2002." *International Migration*, online publication. DOI 10.1111/j.1468-2435.2010.00663.
- Wagner, Anne-Catherine. 1998. Les nouvelles élites de la mondialisation: une immigration dorée en France. Paris: Presses Universitaires de France.
- Wallace, Helen. 2000. "Europeanisation and Globalisation: Complementary or Contradictory Trends?" *New Political Economy* 5 (3): 369-382.
- Wallace, William. 2002. "Where Does Europe End? Dilemmas of Inclusion and Exclusion." In Europe Unbound: Enlarging and Reshaping the Boundaries of the European Union, edited by Jan Zielonka. London: Routledge.
- Walters, William and Jens Henrik Haahr. 2005. *Governing Europe: Discourse, Governmentality and European Integration*. London: Routledge.
- Weber, Eugen. 1976. *Peasant into Frenchmen. The Modernization of Rural France, 1870-1914*. Stanford: Stanford University press.
- Weiß, Anja. 2005. "The Transnationalization of Social Inequality: Conceptualizing Social Positions on a World Scale." *Current Sociology* 53 (4): 707-728.
- Westle, Bettina. 2003. "Europäische Identifikation im Spannungsfeld regionaler und nationaler Identitäten. Theoretische Überlegungen und empirische Befunde." *Politische Vierteljahresschrift* 44 (4) 453-382.
- White, Jonathan. 2009. "Thematization and Collective Positioning in Everyday Political Talk." *British Journal of Political Science* 39 (4): 699-709.
- ———. 2010a. "Europe in the Political Imagination." *Journal of Common Market Studies* 48 (4): 1015-1038.
- ———. 2010b. "The Politics of Other Citizens." Citizenship Studies 14 (4): 411-427.
- Wiener, Antje. 1998. 'European' Citizenship Practice: Building Institutions of a Non-State. Boulder: Westview.
- Wilson, Iain. 2011. "What Should We Expect of Erasmus Generations?" *Journal of Common Market Studies*, forthcoming.
- Wintle, Michael, ed. 1996. *Culture and Identity in Europe: Perspective of Divergence and Unity in Past and Present*. Brookfield: Avebury.
- Yeoh, Brenda. 2005. "Observations on Transnational Urbanism: Possibilities, Politics and Costs of Simultaneity." *Journal of Ethnic and Migration Studies* 31 (2): 409-413.
- Zulauf, Monika. 2001. *Migrant Women Professionals in the European Union*. London: Palgrave Macmillan.
- Zürn, Michael. 2000. "Democratic Governance Beyond the Nation-State: The EU and Other International Institutions." *European Journal of International Relations* 6 (2): 183-221.